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Financial Highlights
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Year ended 31 December
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BUSINESS REVIEW

Overall review

The Group’s consolidated results for 2010 improved substantially
in comparison with last year. In 2010, the Group recorded
turnover of HK$274,386,000 (2009: HK$228,759,000) and
profit attributable to equity holders of HK$36,062,000 (2009:
HK$23,772,000). Basic earnings per share amounted to HK¢0.76
(2009: HK¢0.50). The improvement in results was mainly due to
the improved contribution from the electric and steam power
supply segment and the gain on partial disposal of investment
in a jointly-controlled entity.

Electric and steam power supply

In 2010, the turnover of Zhejiang Sealand Thermoelectric
Share-Holding Co. (“Zhejiang Sealand”), a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group principally engaging in the supply of
electric and steam power in the Linping industrial region of
Hangzhou in China, increased by 21% from HK$227,041,000
to HK$273,732,000. The overall gross profit rate increased
from 7% to 13%. Sales of steam power represented 87% of
the turnover. The sales volume of steam power for the year
was 1,160,000 tonnes, an increase of 5% from 2009. The
average selling price of steam power was raised by 20%. For
the year ended 31 December 2010, the electric and steam
power supply segment recorded profit of HK$21,038,000
(2009: HK$6,041,000).

In 2010, sales of steam power was still the main source of
income of Zhejiang Sealand. To improve production capacity
and efficiency, Zhejiang Sealand implemented upgrade and
innovation to part of its steam boilers and thus the thermal
efficiency was raised by more than 7%. Moreover, the
desulphurisation system project had been completed and passed
in the inspection conducted by the environmental protection
department. It can effectively reduce the emission of sulphur
dioxide and thus reduce sewage tariff by 2/3.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERES

Project EC120

Totally 24 EC120 helicopters were sold in 2010. Turnover
amounted to HK$654,000 (2009: HK$1,718,000). Having
considered the profit and cashflow forecast of Project EC120,
the Group made a provision for impairment of HK$3,459,000
(2009: HK$6,000,000) against the financial assets thereunder. As
a result, Project EC120 segment recorded loss of HK$4,037,000
(2009: HK$5,005,000) for the year ended 31 December 2010.

Others

On 23 December 2010, the Group disposed of part of its
investment in a jointly-controlled entity to an independent
third party at a consideration of HK$58,510,000 and a gain on
partial disposal of investment in a jointly-controlled entity of
HK$54,996,000 was recorded.

For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group recorded
share of losses of associates of HK$9,142,000 (2009:
HK$4,723,000). The increase in the share of losses of associates
was mainly due to the increase in the loss of Sino Gas Group
Limited, a 25.68% associate of the Group, from HK$5,023,000
in 2009 to HK$27,937,000 in 2010. In addition, the Group also
recorded fair value loss on derivative financial instrument of
HK$5,919,000 (2009: gain of HK$11,366,000). The fair value
of the derivative financial instrument was determined basing on
the valuation performed by independent professionally qualified
valuers using the Partial Differential Equation. The fair value
loss represented a decrease in the fair value of the derivative
financial instrument as at 31 December 2010 as compared with
last year mainly due to the reduction in the time value of the
derivative financial instrument.

As mentioned in the interim report of this year, certain of the
Group’s investments have been publicly listed in 2010 which
caused a change in the measurement of these investments by
the Group and thus resulted in a huge increase in their values.
As at 31 December 2010, an increase in the values of these
investments (net of tax) of approximately HK$2,344,486,000
was recorded by the Group. Such increase had no impact on
the consolidated income statement.
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PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group is optimistic on the outlook of
its business. Zhejiang Sealand will continue to implement
technical innovation to out-dated steam boilers so as to
further boost the production capacity. Furthermore, high-
quality internal management will continue to be adopted so
as to improve the operational efficiency. With the mature
management team, conservative company culture and strong
financial position, the Group will continue to closely monitor
projects in aviation industry and aero-related industry in China
with good prospects so as to further develop and diversify its
aero-related business.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my appreciation
to my fellow directors and all our staff for their support, hard
work and dedication.

By Order of the Board

AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited
Wu Guangquan

Chairman

Hong Kong, 10 March 2011
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Liquidity, capital structure and financial resources

The Group has consistently maintained sufficient working
capital. As at 31 December 2010, the Group had current
assets of HK$580,674,000 (2009: HK$577,641,000), including
cash and bank balances and time deposits in an aggregate of
HK$374,448,000 (2009: HK$375,530,000). The Group's current
liabilities as at 31 December 2010 were HK$166,216,000 (2009:
HK$171,074,000).

As at 31 December 2010, the Group’s equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent amounted to HK$3,362,078,000
(2009: HK$955,455,000), comprising issued capital of
HK$475,440,000 (2009: HK$475,440,000) and reserves of
HK$2,886,638,000 (2009: HK$480,015,000). The Group's
outstanding bank borrowing as at 31 December 2010 amounted
to HK$55,882,000 (2009: HK$28,409,000). The Group's
gearing ratio, calculated on the basis of total bank borrowings
as a percentage of equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent, was 2% (2009: 3%).

The Group’s banking facilities are mainly utilised for capital
expenditure and general working capital requirements.

Charges on the Group’s assets

Details of the charges on the Group’s assets are set out in note
30(a) to the financial statements.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates

The Group’s foreign currency exposures primarily arise from
certain sales or purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currency. In view of the fact
that the Group tries to match its assets and liabilities with the
same currency, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk
is minimal.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposals during
the year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the significant contingent liabilities of the Group are
set out in note 39 to the financial statements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

As at 31 December 2010, there were 271 (2009: 272) employees
in the Group. Staff remuneration packages are determined in
consideration of market conditions and the performance of
the individuals concerned, and are subject to review from time
to time. The Group also provides other staff benefits including
medical and life insurance, and grants discretionary incentive
bonuses and share options to eligible staff based on their
performance and contributions to the Group.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENREESECEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wu Guangquan, aged 49, has been an Executive
Director, the Chairman and, a member and the Chairman of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company since 12 March
2010. He holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration
and is a Senior Accountant. Mr. Wu is also the President of
AVIC International Holding Corporation (“AVIC International”)
and a Director of AVIC International (HK) Group Limited (“AVIC
International (HK) Group”), both of which are substantial
shareholders of the Company. He is also the General Manager
of AVIC International Shenzhen Company Limited, and,
the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Shennan Circuit
Corp. and Rainbow Department Store Holdings Co. Ltd. Mr.
Wu has extensive experience in finance, administration and
management. He is also an Executive Director, the Chairman
and, a member and the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of CATIC Shenzhen Holdings Limited, a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), and, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of
Tianma Microelectronic Company Limited and Shenzhen Fiyta
Holdings Limited, both of which are companies listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Jiang Wei, aged 54, has been an Executive Director and a
Deputy Chairman of the Company since 17 May 2010. He holds
a Master’s degree in Business Administration and a Bachelor’s
degree in Aeronautics Engine Design and is a Professional
Senior Engineer. Mr. Jiang is also a Vice President of AVIC
International and a Director of AVIC International (HK) Group.
He was a Deputy Chief Engineer of China Aviation Industry
Corporation | and, the Chairman and the General Manager
of AVIC Shenyang Liming Aero-Engine (Group) Corporation
Ltd. Mr. Jiang has extensive experience in foreign trading and
corporate management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Ji Guirong, aged 49, has been an Executive Director,
a Deputy Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since September 2001. He holds a Master’s degree in
Engineering Management and a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering
and is a Senior Engineer. Mr. Ji is responsible for the Group’s
overall management and development of corporate strategies
in relation to corporate finance, mergers and acquisitions,
project investments and diversification activities. He had served
as the Deputy Chief Economist of AVIC International. Mr. Ji is
also a Director of CATIC Helicopter Development (Shenzhen)
Limited (“CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen)”) and, a Director and
the Chairman of Zhejiang Sealand Thermoelectric Share-Holding
Co. (“Zhejiang Sealand”), both of which are the principal
subsidiaries of the Company. He is also a Non-executive
Director, the Chairman and, a member and the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee of Sino Gas Group Limited
(an associate of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange),
and, a Director and the Vice Chairman of Navinfo Co., Ltd., a
company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Ji is also
a Director of AVIC International (HK) Group, Tacko International
Limited (“Tacko”) and Speed Profit Enterprises Limited (“Speed
Profit”). Tacko and Speed Profit are substantial shareholders of
the Company.

Mr. Liu Rongchun, aged 57, has been an Executive Director
of the Company since April 2005. He holds a Master’s degree
in Aeronautical Engineering and, a Bachelor’s degree in
Aeronautical Engineering and Industrial Foreign Trading, and
is a Professional Senior Engineer. Mr. Liu is also a Vice President
of AVIC International, and, a Director of AVIC International
(HK) Group and Tacko. He has served AVIC International since
1986 and has over 32 years of experience in technology, policy
research, sales and marketing and business management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENREESECEE

Mr. Pan Linwu, aged 46, has been an Executive Director of the
Company since February 2008. He holds a Master’s degree in
Aeronautical Engineering, a Bachelor’s degree in Engineering
and a Postgraduate Diploma in Financial Accounting, and
is a Professional Senior Accountant. Mr. Pan had served at
the Ministry of Aviation Industry and the audit department
of the Ministry of Aero-Space Industry. In 1993, he was
transferred to AVIC International and had served as Deputy
Director and Director of the Audit Division. Mr. Pan has been
appointed as a Vice President and the Chief Financial Officer
of AVIC International since 2001. He is also a Director of AVIC
International (HK) Group and Tacko, and was an Independent
Director of Shenzhen Century Plaza Hotel Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Pan has many years
experience in financial management, supervision and audit,
and has substantial experience in the area of finance, capital
operation and risk management.

Mr. Zhang Chuanjun, aged 40, joined the Company in
October 2003 as the Chief Financial Officer and has been
an Executive Director of the Company since February 2008.
He holds a Master’s degree and a Bachelor’s degree in
Management Accounting and is a Senior Accountant. Mr. Zhang
is responsible for the Group’s corporate finance, accounting
and treasury functions. He is also the Chief Financial Officer of
AVIC International (HK) Group and a Director of Speed Profit.
Mr. Zhang has over 18 years of experience in accounting and
finance. He is also a Director of CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen)
and Zhejiang Sealand.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Fu Shula, aged 55, had been an Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company since May 2004, and, appointed as a
member and the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company since May 2005 until his resignation with effect
from 12 March 2010. He holds a Master’s degree in Engineering
with specialization in aero-engine design and is a Professional
Senior Engineer. Mr. Fu joined AVIC International in 1990 and
had served senior positions as President and Chairman, and,
has over 27 years of experience in technology, marketing,
economic business, operation and management. He was the
Head of Marketing and International Co-operation Division
of China Aviation Industry Corporation | and, is the Deputy
Chief Economist of Aviation Industry Corporation of China
(a substantial shareholder of the Company), the Chairman
of China Aviation Engine Holdings Company Limited and the
Chairman of AVIC Aviation Economy Technology Establishment.
Mr. Fu is also a Director of Tacko.

Mr. Ma Zhiping, aged 54, had been an Executive Director
of the Company since January 2006 until his resignation with
effect from 10 February 2010. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in
Material Science and Engineering and is a Professional Senior
Engineer. Mr. Ma is also a Vice President of AVIC International.
In 1988, he was transferred to AVIC International and had
served as Associate Director of the Science and Technology
Division, Chief Representative of AVIC International in France
and Manager of the International Cooperation Division. Mr.
Ma has been a Director and the General Manager of China
National Aero-Technology Import & Export Corporation since
May 2009. He has worked in the aviation industry for many
years and has substantial experience in the area of foreign trade
and corporate management.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENREESECEE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond, aged 58, has been a Non-
executive Director of the Company since May 1999. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics and a Master of Science
degree in Business Administration. Mr. Ip is also Deputy
Managing Director of Cheung Kong (Holdings) Limited, an
Executive Director and Deputy Chairman of Cheung Kong
Infrastructure Holdings Limited, the Senior Vice President and
Chief Investment Officer of CK Life Sciences Int’l., (Holdings)
Inc., a Non-executive Director of ARA Asset Management
Limited (an Asian real estate fund management company
listed in Singapore), TOM Group Limited, Excel Technology
International Holdings Limited, Ruinian International Limited,
Shougang Concord International Enterprises Company Limited
(all being listed companies) and ARA Asset Management
(Fortune) Limited as the manager of Fortune REIT, and a Director
of ARA Trust Management (Suntec) Limited as the manager of
Suntec REIT. Fortune REIT is listed in Hong Kong and Singapore
whereas Suntec REIT is listed in Singapore.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David, Jr, sBs, aged 67, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
May 1999. He is also a member and the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee
of the Company. Mr. Chu received his Master of Business
Administration degree from Harvard University after degrees
in Electrical Engineering and Management at Northeastern
University and was awarded an honorary Doctor of Public Service
Degree from Northeastern University. He is an Independent
Non-executive Director of Chuang’s China Investments Limited
and Jiuzhou Development Company Limited, both of which
are companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu worked
for a number of sizeable international corporations such as
Bank of America, General Electric Co. and Jardine Matheson &
Company Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Li Ka Fai, David, aged 56, has been an Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since December 2007.
He is also a member of the Audit Committee and a member
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Li
holds a Bachelor of Science honours degree in Chemistry and
Administration. He is the Deputy Managing Partner of Li, Tang,
Chen & Co. CPA (Practising). Mr. Li is also a Fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, UK as well as
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries & Administrators, UK and
an Associate Member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England & Wales. He is an Independent Non-executive
Director of China Merchants Holdings (International) Company
Limited, China-Hongkong Photo Products Holdings Limited,
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited, Goldlion Holdings
Limited and Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group
Limited (formerly known as Neo-China Land Group (Holdings)
Limited), all being listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Li is also
an Independent Director of China Vanke Co., Ltd, a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Li Zhaoxi, aged 63, has been an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company since September 2004. He
is also a member of the Audit Committee of the Company. Mr.
Li holds a Master’s degree in Business Administration. He is a
Senior Research Fellow of and had served as a Deputy Director
at the Enterprise Research Institute of the Development Research
Center under the State Council of the People’s Republic of
China. Mr. Liis an Independent Director of Liaoning Hongyang
Energy Investment Share Limited Company, a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has carried out research on
corporate reforms and management for over 26 years.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EENREESECEE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Hua, aged 41, Chief Operating Officer, joined the
Group in October 2003. He is responsible for the Group’s
corporate planning, mergers and acquisitions, and project
investments. He holds a Master’s degree in Engineering and
a Bachelor's degree in Industrial Engineering and is a Senior
Economist. He has served AVIC International since 1994 and has
over 20 years of experience in engineering, corporate finance,
mergers and acquisitions and project investments. He is also a
Director of Zhejiang Sealand and Speed Profit.

Mr. Liu Binliao, aged 48, Chief Operating Officer, joined
the Group in April 2007. He is responsible for the Group's
corporate planning, project development and, import and export
trading business. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Mechanical
Engineering and Automation at Tsinghua University and had
served at the Ministry of Aviation Industry. He has served AVIC
International since 1992 as Project Manager and, Chief Officer
of the Imports Bureau. He had also served as Chief Officer
of the Trading Division in AVIC International (HK) Group. He
has over 26 years of experience in technical research, project
management and international trade.

Mr. Zhang Hao, aged 37, Deputy Chief Financial Officer, joined
the Group in December 2010. He is responsible for the Group’s
corporate finance, accounting and treasury functions. He holds
a Bachelor’s degree in Accounting and is a member of The
Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a Senior
Accountant. He has served AVIC International since 1995 and
has over 16 years of experience in accounting and finance.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintain good standards of
corporate governance practices by emphasizing transparency,
accountability and responsibility to its shareholders.

Throughout the year of 2010, the Company applied the
principles of, and complied with all the code provisions and,
where applicable, the recommended best practices of the
“Code on Corporate Governance Practices” (the “CG Code")
as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”), except for all Non-executive Directors are
appointed without specific terms, which is mentioned under
section Non-executive Directors in this report.

The Company will periodically review and improve its corporate
governance practices with reference to the latest development
of corporate governance.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the Company’s
code of conduct regarding securities transactions by its Directors.
A reminder is served by the Company to each Director twice
annually of the black out period that the Director cannot deal
in the securities and derivatives of the Company.

Directors are required to notify the Chief Executive Officer and
receive a dated written acknowledgement before dealing in the
securities and derivatives of the Company. In the case of the
Chief Executive Officer himself, he must notify the Chairman
and receive a dated written acknowledgement before any
dealing.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have
confirmed that they have complied with the required standards
as set out in the Model Code throughout the year.

Corporate Governance Report
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TEERRE

The Company has also established a written guideline for
securities transaction by relevant employees (include any
employee of the Company or a director or employee of a
subsidiary or holding company of the Company, who, because
of such office or employment, are likely to be in possession
of unpublished price-sensitive information in relation to the
Company or its securities) on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code. No incident of non-compliance was noted by the
Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is governed by a Board of Directors which has the
responsibility for leadership and control of the Company. The
Directors are collectively responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising the Company’s
affairs.

Currently, the Board comprises six Executive Directors, including
Chairman and two Deputy Chairmen, and four Non-executive
Directors, including three Independent Non-executive Directors.
With the exception of Mr. Wu Guangquan joining the Board as
Executive Director and Chairman on 12 March 2010 and Mr.
Jiang Wei joining the Board as Executive Director and Deputy
Chairman on 17 May 2010, all other existing Directors served
for the whole year of 2010. In addition, Mr. Fu Shula resigned
as Executive Director and Chairman on 12 March 2010 and Mr.
Ma Zhiping resigned as Executive Director on 10 February 2010.
The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages
8 to 14 of this annual report.

At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for
the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject
to retirement at least once every three years. The Directors to
retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in
office since their last election but as between persons who
became Directors on the same day who to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree between themselves) be determined by
lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election. A
new Director appointed by the Board (in the case of filling a
casual vacancy or an addition to the existing Board) after the
preceding annual general meeting is subject to retirement and
is then eligible for re-election at the first general meeting after
his appointment.
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The Company currently does not have a nomination committee.
The Board is directly in charge of nomination of directors. In
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company, the Board shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board but so that the number of directors as
appointed shall not exceed the maximum number determined
from time to time by the members in general meeting. For
nomination, consideration will be made to the qualifications
and capabilities of the nominee.

The Board formulates overall strategy of the Group, monitors
its financial performance and maintains effective oversight over
the management. The Board members are fully committed
to their roles and have acted in good faith to maximize the
shareholders’ value in the long run, and have aligned the
Group’s goals and directions with the prevailing economic and
market conditions. Daily operations and administration are
delegated to the management.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against its Directors and officers. The
Company reviews the extent of this insurance each year.

All Directors have access to the services of the Company
Secretary who regularly updates the Board on governance
and regulatory matters. Any Director, in the furtherance of
his or her duties, may take independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstance through the Chairman at the expense
of the Company. The availability of professional advice extends
to the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

Minutes of Board meetings are taken by the Company Secretary
and, together with any supporting Board papers, are available
to all Board members. During the year under review, nine full
Board meetings were held by the Company.

Corporate Governance Report
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The attendance of individual directors at the Board meetings
and other Committee meetings during the year under review

are set out in the table below:

EEFNDBRFEALRES
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Number of meetings attended/held

HE/BITERERE
Remuneration Audit
Full Board Committee = Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting
Director BE FREZTE FHEEE BEREES
Executive Directors HITEE
Wu Guangquan R 7/9 2/2 =
(appointed on 12 March 2010) (R=ZFE—FF
ZAFT=HEZF)
Fu Shula TR 11 - -
(resigned on 12 March 2010) (BER=F—FF
Z A+ =HEE)
Jiang Wei =& 3/3 - -
(appointed on 17 May 2010) (R=ZF—FF
HATEHEZF)
Ji Guirong B3¢ S 9/9 - -
Ma Zhiping BEYF 0/0 - -
(resigned on 10 February 2010) (ER-F—FF
Z AT HEF)
Liu Rongchun L= 8/9 - -
Pan Linwu EME 9/9 - -
Zhang Chuanjun REE 9/9 - -
Non-executive Director HHITEE
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond g 9/9 - -
Independent HUIHNTEF
Non-executive Directors
Chu Yu Lin, David Rk 9/9 212 212
Li Ka Fai, David ERAE 9/9 2/2 2/2
Li Zhaoxi FIKER 9/9 - 2/2




CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

To ensure a balance of power and authority, the role of the
Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive Officer.
Currently, the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company are Mr. Wu Guangquan and Mr. Ji Guirong
respectively.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board,
ensuring the effectiveness of the Board in all aspects of its
role and for setting its agenda and taking into account any
matters proposed by other Directors for inclusion in the agenda.
Agendas and accompanying Board papers are circulated where
possible at least three days before the time of a Board or
committee meeting. The Chairman is also responsible for
making sure all Directors are properly briefed on issues arising
at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer is delegated
with the authorities to manage the business of the Group in
all aspects effectively.

The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the
Chief Executive Officer has been clearly established and set
out in writing.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Non-executive Directors bring a wide range of skill and
experience to the Group. They serve the important function of
providing adequate checks and balances for safeguarding the
interests of shareholders and the Company as a whole. The
Board considers that three of the four Non-executive Directors
are independent in character and judgment and fulfill the
independence guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. All Non-executive Directors including Independent Non-
executive Directors are appointed without specific terms, but
are subject to retirement by rotation as explained above under
section Board of Directors.

Corporate Governance Report
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one
Executive Director, Mr. Wu Guangquan (as Chairman), and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chu Yu Lin,
David and Mr. Li Ka Fai, David. The Remuneration Committee
is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy
on such remuneration. The role, authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee are clearly set out in its terms of
reference.

The Remuneration Committee met twice during the year under
review to review, recommend and approve the remuneration
packages of Directors and senior management. The attendance
of each member is set out in the table above under section
Board of Directors.

The primary goal of the remuneration policy on executive
remuneration packages is to enable the Company to retain
and motivate Executive Directors by linking their compensation
with performance as measured against corporate objectives.
Under the policy, a director is not allowed to approve his own
remuneration.

Details of the directors’ remuneration are set out in note 8 to
the financial statements.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young are the auditors of the Company. The services
provided by them include audit and non-audit. Fees for auditing
(including interim review) and non-auditing services amount to
HK$1,690,000 and HK$14,000 respectively.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established
in compliance with rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the
purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group's financial reporting process and internal controls. It
currently comprises three Independent Non-executive Directors
of the Company, namely Mr. Chu Yu Lin, David (as Chairman),
Mr. Li Ka Fai, David and Mr. Li Zhaoxi. The Audit Committee
met twice during the year under review. The attendance of
each member is set out in the table above under section Board
of Directors. The duties of the Audit Committee are clearly set
out in its terms of reference.

Full minutes of meetings are kept and sent to all members of
the Board. Matters raised at the meetings were reported back
to the Board so that due consideration was given as to the
action to be taken.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors are responsible for monitoring the preparation
of financial statements of each financial period and ensuring
those financial statements provide a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the results and
cash flow for the relevant financial period. In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies and applied them consistently, adopted
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, made a prudent
and reasonable judgment and estimation, and, prepared the
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Company has timely announced and published its financial
results in accordance with the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

The auditors are responsible for forming an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those financial statements
and to report their opinion solely to the shareholders of the
Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended), and for no other
purpose.
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A statement by the auditors about their reporting responsibilities
is set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report of this annual
report.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of
internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness through
the Audit Committee. The Group’s system of internal control
plays a key role in the management of risks that is significant
to the fulfillment of its business objectives. Procedures have
been designed for safeguarding assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, for maintaining proper accounting records;
and for the reliability of financial information used within the
business or for publication. The procedures provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or
fraud. Procedures have also been designed for compliance of
applicable laws, rules and regulations.

A review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control system covering all material controls, including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions, was conducted at the end of 2010 by
senior management of the Company. The result was reported to
the Audit Committee and thereafter to the Board. No material
deficiency was identified. During the year under review, the
Board considered that the Company’s internal control system
was adequate and effective and the Company has complied
with the provisions on internal control of the CG Code. The
Board confirms that systems and procedures are in place to
identify, control and report on significant risks involved in
achieving the Company’s strategic objectives. Exposures to
these risks are monitored by the Board with the support of
various committees and senior management.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company is committed to fair disclosure, comprehensive and
transparent reporting. Effective communication with shareholders
has always been one of the Company’s priorities. Information in
relation to the Group is disseminated to shareholders in a timely
manner through various formal channels, which include interim
and annual reports, announcements and circulars.

General meetings of the Company provide good opportunities
for direct communications between the Board and its
shareholders. The Chairman of the Board, all other Directors and
senior management endeavor to attend any general meeting of
the Company and answer queries from shareholders. Separate
resolution is proposed for each issue by the Chairman of the
meeting at each general meeting. Notice of general meeting is
served together with the circular to the shareholders at least
twenty clear business days before an annual general meeting
and at least twenty-one days before a meeting called for
passing of a special resolution, and, at least ten clear business
days before a meeting other than an annual general meeting
or a meeting for the passing of a special resolution.

Detail procedures for conducting a poll are to be explained
by the Chairman of the meeting at the commencement of
the general meeting. Any questions raised from shareholders
regarding voting by way of a poll are also be answered by the
Chairman of the meeting.

Corporate Governance Report
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Report of the Directors

EXERE

The directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Company and the Group for the year ended
31 December 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries during the year
comprise:

(i) the supply of electric and steam power; and

(i) the aero-technology related business, including the
share of profit from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters.

There were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s
principal activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's profit for the year ended 31 December 2010 and
the state of affairs of the Company and the Group at that date
are set out in the financial statements on pages 38 to 177 of
this annual report.

The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividends
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2010.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and
restated/reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 178 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the investment property and property,
plant and equipment of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in notes 13 and 14 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised
or issued share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws/Articles of Association or the laws of
Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer new shares
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year are set out in note 34(b) to the financial
statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2010, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended), amounted
to HK$35,405,849. In addition, the Company’s share premium
account, in the amount of HK$193,970,166, may be distributed
in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.
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Report of the Directors

EXERE

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

The percentages of the Group's purchases attributable to the

Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

TEREEREF

AEEXERERMEAEE 2 RBEE D
b

2010 2009
—EB-2F —ETNF
% %

Percentage of purchases: GHREEE DL
From the largest supplier REmAEERS 31 23
From the five largest suppliers RERAEER 84 67

The percentages of the Group's sales attributable to the Group’s
major customers are as follows:

AEEFERFAERAKEEZHER LM
™

2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTNEF
% %

Percentage of sales: HEEBED
From the largest customer KEZRARF 15 20
From the five largest customers KERAARRF 35 39

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the
directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
suppliers and customers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Wu Guangquan (appointed on 12 March 2010)
Fu Shula (resigned on 12 March 2010)

Jiang Wei (appointed on 17 May 2010)

Ji Guirong

Liu Rongchun

Pan Linwu

Zhang Chuanjun

Ma Zhiping (resigned on 10 February 2010)
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Non-executive Director:

Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Chu Yu Lin, David
Li Ka Fai, David
Li Zhaoxi

Pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Jiang Wei, who
was appointed as a director subsequent to the preceding annual
general meeting, will hold office until the forthcoming annual
general meeting and will then be eligible to offer himself for re-
election at the meeting. Furthermore, Messrs, Zhang Chuanjun,
Li Kai Fai, David, Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond and Ji Guirong will
retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of
independence from Messrs. Chu Yu Lin, David, Li Ka Fai, David,
and Li Zhaoxi, and as at the date of this report still considers
them to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 8 to 14
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

Report of the Directors
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Report of the Directors

EXERE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director during the year had a material interest, either

directly or indirectly, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its
holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a
party during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, the interests and short positions of
the directors in the share capital and underlying shares of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")),
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “"Model Code"), were as follows:

EENEN2ES

FR - FEFEAQRREEMZR AT
K&~ R R KB A RIAT L2 (E R HRE
AEEXBZEEANTHEERIMESE
BEKRES °

EEvROKMEBRS RS
15879

—E-TFI-A=t—A  SEEHE
AR TR IABAE (R (BHRBEIE
Bl EXVEB 2 ERRIE) 2R RABRS

2

A

BRC(EZ LB GO £352(RBT A
AREEFNERMALEE  KNAER

(ETRREFETESFRXZNFESTAD
(MRESFA]) MEARRA MBS
KRBT

Long positions in share options of associated corporation of the Company:

RAEARDEBEEZBREZHA -

Percentage of
the associated
corporation’s
issued share

Name of Relationship Number of Capacity and capital
Name of associated with the share options  nature of 1R AR L
director Notes  corporation Company held interest ERITRA
Y Hrad  MEEEAR HARNRZEE FAEEREHE SORERME ZADL
Ji Guirong (@) Sino Gas Associate 34,900,000 Directly 1.63
FEE Group Limited YN beneficially
PR E owned
BRRA BERERES
Zhang Chuanjun (b)  Sino Gas Associate 30,000,000 Directly 1.40
REE Group Limited B &N el beneficially
FIHREEEE owned
BRAF] BEEERER




Notes:

(a)(i

(i)

The

share options

On 23 August 2007, Mr. Ji was granted options to subscribe for
an aggregate of 14,900,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.20 each,
at an exercise price of HK$0.35 per share, in Sino Gas Group
Limited (“Sino Gas”). The Stock Exchange closing price of Sino
Gas' shares on the trading day immediately prior to 23 August
2007 was HK$0.33 per share. The said options were granted
by having received a total non-refundable payment of HK$1.00
from Mr. Ji.

On 31 August 2010, Mr Ji was granted options to subscribe
for an aggregate of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.20
each, at an exercise price of HK$0.341 per share, in Sino Gas.
The Stock Exchange closing price of Sino Gas’ shares on the
trading day immediately prior to 31 August 2010 was HK$0.32
per share. The said options were granted by having received a
total non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from Mr Ji.

exercise periods of the options are as follows:

Number of
Exercise period

BRESE TEH

(if)
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R_ZEZLENA-+=0 FThE4HE
% & AT R #14,900,0000% & B & &
0208 Tz mZeeEBAER AR ([F
R TERBRE THEEA
FR0.358 T ° Il REROREE =
ETLFNAZFT=HAIZR S B 25
R EAEER03IIBITL  TAER
ERZBREBSIN T AAIRERE
1.00/87T °

RZZT—ZTFNA=+—8 Fr4EE
% & £ 7] 7R 820,000,0004% & & A&
0.208 Tz iR R L BIR 2 B -
TEBAFENRO0.341/ETT » FIREZRERHD
REE-ZZT—ZTFNA=Z+—BHIZX
SB2BXAKTEAER32E T -
FRERERZBRERE N T A
RBFIE1.00587T °

BRI ZIEEIT R T

4,966,667

1/10/2007 to 31/1/2015

TETAFTA-HE-Z-AF-A=t—H
4,966,667 1/1/2008 to 31/1/2015
—EEN\F-A-HEZZ-HE-A=+—H
4,966,666 1/7/2008 to 31/1/2015
“EEN\FELA-HE_ZT-AF—A=t+—H
20,000,000 31/8/2010 to 30/8/2020
—ZTFNA=+—HEZZZZTFNAR=1+H
34,900,000

No options have been exercised or cancelled during the year.
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(b)(i)

On 3 January 2006, Mr. Zhang was granted options to subscribe
for an aggregate of 10,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.20
each, at an exercise price of HK$0.20 per share, in Sino Gas.
The Stock Exchange closing price of Sino Gas' shares on the
trading day immediately prior to 3 January 2006 was HK$0.20
per share. The said options were granted by having received a
total non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from Mr. Zhang.

On 31 August 2010, Mr. Zhang was granted options to
subscribe for an aggregate of 20,000,000 ordinary shares of
HK$0.20 each, at an exercise price of HK$0.341 per share, in
Sino Gas. The Stock Exchange closing price of Sino Gas’ shares
on the trading day immediately prior to 31 August 2010 was
HK$0.32 per share. The said options were granted by having
received a total non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 from Mr.

b))y M=ZZTZEAF—HA=H RELEFES
# 7] 72 #£10,000,0000% & A% ™ 80.20
B P RZRE LBk BIRE - 171F
BREIR0.20BTT ° FIHREROHNE
BE_ZENFE-AZHMz2X 5 A2
R T E A FRR020E T  RAEER
BEZBERERESMNTTAERSE
1.00/ 7T °

(i) RZZE—ZFNA=+—H REEE
&m/\u 2 #20,000,0000% & A% @ &
0.20/8 T2 R RAE L BAR 2 BARAE -
1B AFTR0.3418 T - FIRZRERG
REBE-Z—ZFFN\A=1+—HAZX
SB2ZBRANTEAER32HE T -
RAEERERZBRERE SN T A

Zhang. R[ElEFH1.0087T
The exercise periods of the options are as follows: BRI BRETEHROT
Number of
share options Exercise period
BREHE TS
5,000,000 1/7/2006 to 31/1/2015
ZEERNFLA—REZT-—HF—A=+—H
5,000,000 1/1/2007 to 31/1/2015
—EEHF-A-HE-ZT-hF—A=1+—H
20,000,000 31/8/2010 to 30/8/2020
ZE-EF\RA=t—HBEZZ-_ZF/\A=1H
30,000,000

No options have been exercised or cancelled during the year.

Certain directors have non-beneficial personal equity interests

in certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, none of the

directors of the Company had registered an interest or short

position in the shares or underlying shares of the Company

or any of its associated corporations that was required to be

recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise

notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to

the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” above and in the
section “Share option scheme” below, at no time during the
year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in the Company granted to any director or their
respective spouses or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the directors to acquire such rights in
any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Further
details of the share option scheme are disclosed in note 33 to
the financial statements.

There were no share options outstanding under the share
option scheme as at 31 December 2009 and 2010.
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EXERE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND FERRREMATRERG R
OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES MK {1 2 Ew=

AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2010, the following interests of 5% or more R-E—ZFF+-_A=1+—H ' K"ARER
of the issued share capital of the Company were recorded in (FEHFEHAEIRD) 3365 FECERER
the register of interests required to be kept by the Company faesk 2 R AR5 %k LA | B BT A HE RS
pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO: LU

Long positions:

HR:
Percentage of
the Company’s
issued share
Capacity Number of capital
and nature of ordinary RN
Name of shareholders interest shares held BRITRA
REEH B REREME FHEEBER™E ZBEDL
Speed Profit Enterprises Limited (“Speed Profit”) Beneficial owner 508,616,000 10.70
FUSFIBIRBR A (T81EH]) EnlEAA
Tacko International Limited (“Tacko") Beneficial owner 1,386,943,000 29.17
8 EnlEAA
z Through a controlled 508,616,000 10.70
g corporation
g EBE A
%. AVIC International (HK) Group Limited Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
3 ("AVIC International (HK) Group”) corporation
g FHER (F%) EEERAT FEBEEE
g (B (B%) £8))
’;n:: AVIC International Holding Corporation Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
= ("AVIC International”) corporation
% Bz R B R AR B BR A | ([ AEIRR ]) FREIEEE
= Aviation Industry Corporation of China (“AVIC”) Through a controlled 1,895,559,000 39.87
B A TEEEAF ([HHRIE]) corporation
FiRXEAE
Atlantis Investment Management Ltd. Investment manager 434,000,000 9.13
KEEBEEBA

EBTHE (H2) HAMERTZWE




Note: Speed Profit is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Tacko, which is
in turn a wholly-owned subsidiary of AVIC International (HK)
Group. AVIC International (HK) Group is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of AVIC International, which is in turn a wholly-
owned subsidiary of AVIC. Pursuant to the SFO, Tacko is
deemed to be interested in the shares held by Speed Profit;
and each of AVIC International (HK) Group, AVIC International
and AVIC is deemed to be interested in the aggregate shares
directly held by Speed Profit and Tacko.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2010, no person,
other than the directors of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ interests and short positions
in shares and underlying shares” above, had registered an
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company that was required to be recorded pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company and the Group had certain
connected and continuing connected transactions, details of
which are set out in note 40 to the financial statements and
disclosed in compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions set out in
note 40 to the financial statements and have confirmed that
these continuing connected transactions were entered into (i)
in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group; (ii)
on normal commercial terms or on terms no less favourable to
the Group than terms available to independent third parties;
and (iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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EXERE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company

and within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this report.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Wu Guangquan
Chairman

Hong Kong
10 March 2011
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Ell ERNST & YOUNG
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Ernst & Young

18th Floor

Two International Finance Centre
8 Finance Street, Central

Hong Kong

R
FEHIRE AR
BPE &R D207 1818
EEE: +852 2846 9888
{5H: +852 2868 4432

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432

www.ey.com

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
AVIC INTERNATIONAL HOLDING (HK) LIMITED

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AVIC
International Holding (HK) Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 38 to 177,
which comprise the consolidated and company statements of
financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981 (as amended), and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the
Group as at 31 December 2010, and of the Group’s profit and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
10 March 2011
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Consolidated Income Statement RS W= R
Year ended 31 December 2010 HE—ZE—ZF+_A=+—HILFE

2010 2009
“E-EF —TTNF
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat BT BT
REVENUE Uk &= 5 274,386,084 228,758,961
Cost of sales HERA (237,264,158) (210,414,841)
Gross profit ES 37,121,926 18,344,120
Other income and gains H AW A R F) 5 14,273,374 22,052,621
Administrative expenses THEEER (33,948,289) (35,742,782)
Other operating income/(expenses), net Hapge &g A~
(%) ##8 6 259,650 (761,902)
Finance costs MY 7 (3,971,438) (1,570,251)
Deficit on revaluation of an investment KEWFEEMEE
property 13 - (700,000)
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation of items ME - ENRE
of property, plant and equipment BEEMAR
(E518) 14 (1,526,044) 1,007,111
Gain on partial disposal of investment & HB ) R A A
in a jointly-controlled entity BEZHNE 18 54,996,388 =
Gain on deemed disposal of an associate iR & H E B N F)
ZFE 19 1,600,123 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & B A R A 35 - 1,205,027
Share of profits and losses of: SEE A R EE
Jointly-controlled entity HEZEER A 3,494,532 486,412
Associates A= (9,141,925) (4,722,507)
Impairment of a financial asset under EC120EER 2
Project EC120 W% EERE 20 (3,459,462) (6,000,000)
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale HEMHEEER
investments K& 2 F - 32,121,760
Fair value gain/(loss) on derivative financial T4 4@ T A2 AFE
instrument FE (E1E) 26 (5,918,887) 11,366,053
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRE A= A 6 53,779,948 37,085,662
Income tax expense FrS iR 10 (10,099,853) (12,379,752)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AR 43,680,095 24,705,910
Attributable to: THIATFE -
Equity holders of the parent INGIL- T3 N 11 36,061,524 23,772,415
Non-controlling interests IR 7,618,571 933,495
43,680,095 24,705,910
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO AR EERITEA
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EiasRER
THE PARENT 12
- Basic and diluted —ERREE HKO0.76 cent HK0.50 cent
Al eyl




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 4 & 2 H W &= &
Year ended 31 December 2010 HE T —TF+_A=+—HILFE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNF
Notes HK$ HK$
Wi BT BT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR AREFF 43,680,095 24,705,910
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hfh 2 E WS
Surplus on property, plant and Y% - BE T
equipment revaluation EHAR 14 13,518,404 4,971,243
Income tax effect stz & 31 (3,028,122) 3
10,490,282 4,971,243
Available-for-sale investments: AHENRE :
Change in fair value NEEES) 21 1,842,899,816 10,363,981
Reclassification adjustment for gain FSTAGRERERZ
included in the consolidated income AE 2 EH
statement DIRTE
— Gain on disposal — HEZFE 21 - (1,313,605)
Income tax effect Frisiic & 371 (459,766,669) =
1,383,133,147 9,050,376
Share of other comprehensive income S ERZEE AT 2
of a jointly-controlled entity Hith 2 E W 1,041,417,750 -
Reclassification adjustment for gain STAGERTEERZ
included in the consolidated income FEz &8 o fEAE
statement
— Gain on partial disposal — BB & 2 FH 18 (76,231,396) -
965,186,354 -
Share of other comprehensive income — S {5Bt& N7 2
of an associate H 2 mies 9,500,000 =
Exchange differences on translation of HEFINEFRELZ
foreign operations EHZER 9,850,353 1,277,143
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR ZAXEHMthE2mERE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX (HBrBLIER) 2,378,160,136 15,298,762
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR AEZEIKNZAZE
THE YEAR 2,421,840,231 40,004,672
Attributable to: THIA LS :
Equity holders of the parent NEEDREA A 11 2,406,623,139 36,396,922
Non-controlling interests JEIE R R RS 15,217,092 3,607,750
2,421,840,231 40,004,672

0L0Z 140d3Y4 TVNNNV 6€

P

E—&"

=

L



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position & & B ¥ 4k R &
31 December 2010 —ZE—ZF+ -/ =+—H

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ZTNEF
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat ET BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investment property WEME 13 - -
Property, plant and equipment W - BREMEE 14 303,725,964 281,864,870
Prepaid land lease payments T A ER 15 28,794,109 28,506,932
Goodwill EES 16 30,493,201 30,493,201
Investment in a jointly-controlled entity H[FZE#E QAR ZKE 18 1,008,486,464 43,319,189
Investments in associates BERNRIZKE 19 242,081,329 170,041,714
Financial asset under Project EC120 EC1207BB v IS EE 20 - 3,459,462
Available-for-sale investments AHEENKE 21 1,877,310,258 63,284,434
Total non-current assets FEMBEERE 3,490,891,325 620,969,802
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories ety 22 21,872,515 13,945,119
Trade and bills receivables JEWE SRR RER 23 40,368,355 32,488,155
Loan to a jointly-controlled entity EECEEL /N
REHER 18 23,529,412 =
Loans to associates ML & N RRERE R 19 5,882,353 50,138,909
s Loan to a related company mREE N FIREAER 24 17,647,059 =
- Prepayments, deposits and other TANFIE - BE Rk
A receivables £ MR 25 50,017,164 81,745,267
§ Derivative financial instrument MTESmIT A 26 17,875,291 23,794,178
5 Available-for-sale investments AT = 1R 21 29,033,802 -
) Pledged time deposits BB TR 27 34,444,706 45,051,137
é_t Cash and cash equivalents BHe NS EE 27 340,002,935 330,478,651
§' Total current assets BB ERE 580,673,592 577,641,416
% CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
5 Trade and bills payables ERESERALRE 28 75,376,019 112,698,176
g Tax payable FE A 9,765,573 8,778,876
& Other payables and accruals EmpEMNZELESER 29 25,192,522 21,187,580
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FEEIRITER 30 55,882,353 28,409,091
:.Ei Total current liabilities REE ERE 166,216,467 171,073,723
NET CURRENT ASSETS nEEEFE 414,457,125 406,567,693
g TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEAERADEE
Tﬁ; LIABILITIES 3,905,348,450 1,027,537,495
o NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
E Deferred tax liabilities FIERIEEE 31 471,624,216 6,653,991
a Net assets BEFE 3,433,724,234 1,020,883,504




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position &2 & B ¥/ 0 &

31 December 2010 —E—FF+=-F=+—H

2010 2009
—E-BF “TETHF
Notes HKS$ HK$
M BT BT
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity holders QX REFFE A
of the parent iR
Issued capital BT 32 475,439,700 475,439,700
Reserves i 34(a) 2,886,638,638 480,015,499
3,362,078,338 955,455,199
Non-controlling interests FEEBRER 71,645,896 65,428,305
Total equity = BE 3,433,724,234  1,020,883,504
Ji Guirong Zhang Chuanjun
£ RESE
Director Director
EE EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity iR RS FH R

Year ended 31 December 2010 HEZ =T —ZFF+-_A=+—HILFE

Share
Issued premium
capital account
BEIRE  ROEER
Notes HKS HK$
Vi3 BT BT
At 1 January 2009 RZZZENF—A—A 475,439,700 193,970,166
Profit for the year AE T - -
Other comprehensive income for the year: AEEMEZEKE -
Surplus on property, plant and equipment revaluation nE  BENZBEGRHS 14 - -
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments, AfRHENRE A TEED
net of tax (MErTiER%) 21 - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations & FINEBEE 2 EH 250 = =
Total comprehensive income for the year AEL2ERRBE - -
Transfer to reserve fund BRERGES - -
Disposal of subsidiaries HERB AR 35 = =
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders IR AR R (RO S, = -
At 31 December 2009 “EENE+-A=1—H 475,439,700  193,970,166*




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity ZR &5 R 2 B &

Year ended 31 December 2010 BEZ—ZFT—ZF+_-_A=+—HILFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent
NGl SRS PN A

Property, Available-
plant and for-sale
equipment investment Exchange Non-
revaluation revaluation Reserve fluctuation Retained controlling Total
reserve reserve fund reserve profits Total interests equity
nEx - WEM e
REERFHRE REEMERE Fhe EIXDEE BEaM Ait R BnaE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
AT AT BT BT AT AT BT BT
(note 34(a))
(Biit34(a)

4,490,369 1,078,412 6,427,733 21,531,577 216,120,320 919,058,277 69,005,482 988,063,759

= = = L 23,772,415 23,772,415 933,495 24,705,910
2,783,896 = = = = 2,783,896 2,187,347 4,971,243
= 9,050,376 = = = 9,050,376 = 9,050,376
= = = 790,235 = 790,235 486,908 1,277,143
2,783,896 9,050,376 = 790,235 23,772,415 36,396,922 3,607,750 40,004,672
= = 58,047 = (58,047) = = -
= = = = = = 33,003 33,003

= = = = = = (7,217,930) (7,217,930)

7,274,265*  10,128,788* 6,485,780*  22,321,812* 239,834,688* 955,455,199 65,428,305 1,020,883,504
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity in &= 2 8 &K

Year ended 31 December 2010 HEZ =T —ZFF+-_A=+—HILFE

Share
Issued premium
capital account
ERTRA B R ER
Notes HK$ HKS$
Mt BT BT
At 1 January 2010 R-E-S4-A—H 475,439,700  193,970,166*
Profit for the year KEEH - -
Other comprehensive income for the year: KEAM2AKS -
Surplus on property, plant and equipment revaluation, M BENREELRS
net of tax (MBr7iER) 14 - -
Changes in fair value of available-for-sale investments, HHENRE AT EE
net of tax (MEBIER) 21 - -
Share of other comprehensive income of MbERIEEAR 2 B2 EME
a jointly-controlled entity - -
Share of other comprehensive income of an associate MR AR 2 At 2 E e - -
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations ~ AEEINLTEE B X Z5E - -
Total comprehensive income for the year REREWHER - -
Transfer to reserve fund BREERES - -
Dividend paid to non-controlling shareholders IR R R H0AR 2 - -
At 31 December 2010 W-E-ZF+-A=1—H 475,439,700  193,970,166*
@ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of e REROFBESVBRARPOEEH

HK$2,886,638,638 (2009: HK$480,015,499) in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

1%2,886,638,638%8 L (= T T J1 F :

480,015,499/ 7T ) ©




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity s &R E# 8K

Year ended 31 December 2010 HEZE=-ZF—ZFF+-A=+—HILtFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

NARRIAE ARG RER
Property,  Available-
plant and for-sale
Share  equipment investment Exchange Non-
option  revaluation  revaluation Reserve  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
reserve reserve reserve fund reserve profits Total interests equity
nE - BEN AHHE
BRERE REELRE REEHRRE e EXRBRE BRimA RE  FERER ERAE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
A V-3 A A V-3 A AT B BT
(note 34(a))
(Hi#34(a)
- 7,274,265*  10,128,788*  6,485,780*  22,321,812* 239,834,688* 955,455,199 65,428,305 1,020,883,504
- - - - - 36,061,524 36,061,524 7,618,571 43,680,095
- 5,874,558 - - - - 5,874,558 4,615,724 10,490,282
- - 1,383,133,147 - - - 1,383,133,147 - 1,383,133,147
- - 965,186,354 - - - 965,186,354 - 965,186,354
5,100,000 - - - 4,400,000 - 9,500,000 - 9,500,000
- - - - 6,867,556 - 6,867,556 2,982,797 9,850,353
5,100,000 5,874,558 2,348,319,501 - 11,267,556 36,061,524 2,406,623,139 15,217,092 2,421,840,231
- - - 1,025,719 - (1,025719) - - -
- - - - - - - (8,999,501)  (8,999,501)
5,100,000  13,148,823* 2,358,448,289*  7,511,499*  33,589,368* 274,870,493* 3,362,078,338 71,645,896 3,433,724,234
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows s 8 HE&RE R
Year ended 31 December 2010 HE—ZT—TF+_A=+—HILFE
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEThEF
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat BT BT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING RETHEERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax R A5 A& A 53,779,948 37,085,662
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs = 7 3,971,438 1,570,251
Share of profits and losses of DaEZEERFR
jointly-controlled entity and /Ny |
associates K E18 5,647,393 4,236,095
Bank interest income HRITH EWA 5 (2,972,264) (2,406,328)
Interest income on convertible HEE N RIEITZ
bonds issued by an associate AR E S 2
B A 5 (550,000) (485,535)
Interest income on loans to associates  [A)H# & A IR Y
Bz BHEA 5 (1,133,252) (2,416,799)
Interest income on other receivable Eﬁﬂfﬂ&ﬁﬁ 7
FBIA 5 (755,562) (932,438)
Dividend income from an unlisted JE MR EE SR
available-for-sale investment BEZRBUA 5 - (6,937,490)
Loss on disposal of an associate HERE AR 2 EiE - 192,691
Gains on disposal of items of property, HE%  FEM
plant and equipment FAEIE R 2 5 - (236,172)
Gain on partial disposal of investment € &5 £ RIIFHE A 7
in a jointly-controlled entity & 2 F 18 (54,996,388) =
Gain on deemed disposal of AR B R A A
an assoicate ZHE 19 (1,600,123) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWRB AR FE 35 - (1,205,027)
Deficit on revaluation of an KEMEEGEE
investment property 13 - 700,000
Deficit/(surplus) on revaluation of ME - BENEE
items of property, plant BEEMEE
and equipment (&) 14 1,526,044 (1,007,111)
Depreciation e 6 18,645,488 17,963,389
Recognition of prepaid land TEREN LA E R
lease payments 6 736,905 728,531
Provision for impairment of trade and  JEWE SRR R ZiE
bills receivables, net ZRER TR 6 156,202 427,947
Write-off/(recovery) of other receivables  #fi# ~ (Uk[al) Hith
& i B R 6 (254,933) 49,864
Provision/(write-back of provision) for — BfFGIEIR A& XBHE
financial guarantee contracts (Bfsm ) 6 (160,919) 284,091




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows %25 IREFER
Year ended 31 December 2010 HE —ZE—ZF+_-_F=+—HILFE

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZZTNE
Notes HK$ HK$
Mzt BT BT
Impairment of a financial asset EC120188 2
under Project EC120 MG EERE 20 3,459,462 6,000,000
Gain on disposal of HERAHEEMNRE
available-for-sale investments Z 8 - (32,121,760)
Fair value loss/(gain) on derivative PTESMIAZ
financial instrument NEEEE
(FE) 5,918,887 (11,366,053)
31,418,326 10,123,808
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD /(3Em) (7.,435,215) 17,414,015
Decrease/(increase) in trade and U E B RN EE
bills receivables B (3g ) (6,889,762) 13,855,912
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments, TERERER - Ee Kk
deposits and other receivables H b pE UL BR X
HA (1) 30,460,691 (17,661,538)
Decrease in trade and bills payables BB SRR REER D (41,168,400) (4,926,683)
Increase in other payables E e IR R AT
and accruals &g 3,477,768 23,832,162
Cash generated from operations EEEX RS 9,863,408 42,637,676
Interest paid BERAFE (3,971,438) (1,570,251)
Overseas tax paid BB INMRIE (7,242,162) (6,367,247)
Net cash flows from/(used in) SEESELE (FH)
operating activities ZBRenEHE (1,350,192) 34,700,178
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REEZHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BAMZE - BEM
plant and equipment R E B 14 (20,053,447) (51,817,996)
Additions to property under NEERBPYE
development - (8,803,177)
Dividend received from an unlisted WEIZE ET At &
available-for-sale investment RIS E Z RS - 6,937,490
Purchases of additional equity N TNETE-CEIN
investment in an associate [N (38,783,639) =
Purchases of available-for-sale BAEHEHEMKRE
investments - (2,680,300)
Purchase of a derivative financial BATESRLTA
instrument - (11,900,000)
Advance of a loan to M AEREREA AR HER
a jointly-controlled entity (23,529,412) -
Advance of loans to associates MEE R R EHER (6,132,130) (24,848,297)
Repayment of a loan from an associate Bf#%& A RIEEER 19,090,908 -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 8B ERER
Year ended 31 December 2010 HE—ZE—ZF+_A=+—HILFE

2010 2009
—E-ZF ZEThEF
Notes HK$ HK$
Hiat ET BT
Advance of a loan to a related company [AIE§:E N &5 HE &K (17,647,059) =
Proceeds from disposal of items of LEWE - BREMRE
property, plant and equipment 18 B pT5 508 - 240,000
Proceeds from partial disposal of & 20 K RIEE A A
investment in a jointly-controlled entity % & TS FIAE 58,510,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of an associate  H & & A T 15 2018 - 1,146,842
Proceeds from disposal of HEAHEENRE
available-for-sale investments FriS s8R - 21,832,579
Disposal of subsidiaries HEKRB AR 35 - 4,500,991
Bank interest received BUERTTH B 2,972,264 2,406,328
Interest received on convertible bonds ~ Z U HEE L A FIEITZ
issued by an associate BRES 2 FE 550,000 455,267
Interest received on loans to associates B2 UkEH & A &) B 2 A 8 2,480,454 -
Interest received on other receivable B S0 A W BR SRR 1,688,000 =
Decrease in pledged time deposits B E BATE 5O 12,196,472 8,620,526
Net cash flows used in "EEEFERAZ
investing activities WEIMEFH (8,657,589) (53,909,747)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEETBH2RERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank loans FIRITER 55,882,353 45,454,545
Repayment of bank loans BEERITER (29,411,765) (46,590,909)
Dividend to non-controlling shareholders %5 7 3E4% J& B 5 A% 5. (8,999,501) (7,217,930)
Advance from a non-controlling R B FEIE AR R EA TR
shareholder - 7,034,976
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEBEL S (E/H)
financing activities 2B emE 17,471,087 (1,319,318)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH ReRBLEEEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Om2) B8 7,463,306 (20,528,887)
Cash and cash equivalents FeRekReEFE
at beginning of year 330,478,651 350,734,518
Effect of foreign exchange rate b= B B F
changes, net 2,060,978 273,020




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZZ8HREHRER
Year ended 31 December 2010 HZ —Z—ZEF+_A=+—HILtFE

2010 2009
—E-BF “TETHF
Notes HKS$ HK$
i B BT
[
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZESRASEE
AT END OF YEAR 340,002,935 330,478,651
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH HeERBREEELH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2o
Cash and bank balances Re NIRITET 27 144,092,260 111,247,128
Non-pledged time deposits with BSRERAREHATE
original maturity of less than =& A 2 mE
three months when acquired EHER 27 195,910,675 219,231,523
340,002,935 330,478,651
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Statement of Financial Position Bf #& Ak % 3%

31 December 2010 —ZE—ZF+—-A=+—H

2010 2009
—E-FF —TENF
Notes HKS$ HKS$
Mz BT BT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS kRBEE
Investment property WEME 13 - =
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEMRE 14 28,425,727 29,456,884
Investments in subsidiaries MEBARIEE 17 566,920,210 580,034,555
Loans to an associate MmN AR ENER 19 31,048,000 -
Available-for-sale investments A EERIRE 21 2,680,300 2,680,300
Total non-current assets ERBEERE 629,074,237 612,171,739
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Loans to an associate mEE RN AIRENER 19 - 31,048,000
Prepayments, deposits and AR - ek
other receivables H b e W AR X 25 2,032,564 3,665,575
Cash and cash equivalents HehEeEHE 27 75,958,489 94,067,581
Total current assets MENEEEE 77,991,053 128,781,156
CURRENT LIABILITY REAE
Accruals JEETE A 29 2,249,575 1,664,978
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 75,741,478 127,116,178
Net assets BERE 704,815,715 739,287,917
EQUITY s
Issued capital BEITRA 32 475,439,700 475,439,700
Reserves HiE 34(b) 229,376,015 263,848,217
Total equity EmiRE 704,815,715 739,287,917
Ji Guirong Zhang Chuanjun
E3 L REE
Director Director
EF EE
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AVIC International Holding (HK) Limited is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered
office of the Company is located at Canon’s Court, 22
Victoria Street, Hamilton, HM 12, Bermuda.

During the year, the Group was involved in the following
activities:

(i) the supply of electric and steam power; and

(ii) the aero-technology related business, including
the share of profit from the development,
manufacture and distribution of helicopters.

In the opinion of the directors, the ultimate holding
company of the Company is Aviation Industry Corporation
of China (“AVIC"), which is incorporated in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“"HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
property, plant and equipment, equity investments
and derivative financial instruments, which have been
measured at fair value. These financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars except when otherwise
indicated.
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation
Basis of consolidation from 1 January 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2010. The financial statements of
the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Company, using consistent accounting
policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated from
the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated
until the date that such control ceases. All intra-group
balances, transactions, unrealised gains and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends
are eliminated on consolidation in full. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

Losses within a subsidiary are attributed to the non-
controlling interest even if that results in a deficit
balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and recognises
(i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate.

2.1

mBLERE (17
AR
EoF-FE—A-AEZFAEE

REMBRRBEARNRE RENEB
nE (B [AEE ) BE2—_F—F
F+- A=t HLEFEZUBR
Ko WBARRMBRSREHE Y
BHRRDERBERARF —B 2 &5
BRmE - MBRAREXEDBHK
BEH (AMAKERGEHESEX)
B ASREMBRERA - X —HF
ABEEZREWNERILEERLE - FIB
SEARAHEGRF X5 KERA
NAIERZAEEZRERFER
BRARBERFAKRE BERE
e YERAREEZ THUSE
BREL AT - AR -

BESs BARARE  WEAF
2 BRI & B BRI RS -

MBARcHBERELES B
RREZGIER - HEEXH AR

i) 7N 6% [ 55 25 Y /B A ) 2 4 I 4
AlgREERONZMBRAICEE
(BHRAEE) RAE  (MERIFER
ez BREE Rt AERZ R
AAMEEE YEROEKKEZ
RNFE: (NVERNRREREZQF
8 ¢ Rzt AR < E R E e mE
EZBBEEM - RN EMBER
W R AN EEBEHEXD - T3
BIBRAEH D EERELE Fiit
e




Notes to Financial Statements B %3 3R i 5+

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)
Basis of consolidation prior to 1 January 2010

Certain of the above-mentioned requirements have been
applied on a prospective basis. The following differences,
however, are carried forward in certain instances from
the previous basis of consolidation:

o Acquisitions of non-controlling interests (formerly
known as minority interests), prior to 1 January
2010, were accounted for using the parent entity
extension method, whereby the differences
between the consideration and the book value
of the share of the net assets acquired were
recognised in goodwill.

o Losses incurred by the Group were attributed
to the non-controlling interest until the balance
was reduced to nil. Any further excess losses
were attributable to the parent, unless the non-
controlling interest had a binding obligation to
cover these. Losses prior to 1 January 2010 were
not reallocated between non-controlling interest
and the parent shareholders.

o Upon loss of control, the Group accounted for the
investment retained at its proportionate share of
net asset value at the date control was lost. The
carrying amount of such investment at 1 January
2010 has not been restated.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.
HKFRS 1 (Revised)

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 2 Amendments

HKFRS 3 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 39 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 17

HKFRS 5 Amendments
included in
Improvements
to HKFRSs issued in
October 2008

Improvements to HKFRSs
2009

HK Interpretation 4
Amendment

HK Interpretation 5

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards - Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment - Group Cash-settled Share-based
Payment Transactions

Business Combinations

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements

Amendment to HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement - Eligible Hedged Items

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners

Amendments to HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations
- Plan to sell the controlling interest in
a subsidiary

Amendments to a number of HKFRSs issued
in May 2009

Amendment to HK Interpretation 4 Leases -
Determination of the Length of Lease Term
in respect of Hong Kong Land Leases

Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on Demand
Clause

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs had no
material impact on the results and financial position for

the current or prior accounting periods which have been
prepared and presented.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet

effective, in these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment

HKFRS 1 Amendments

HKFRS 7 Amendments

HKFRS 9

HKAS 12 Amendments

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 32 Amendment

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14
Amendments

HK(IFRIC)-Int 19

Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards - Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7 Disclosures for
First-time Adopters ?

Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards - Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time
Adopters *

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures - Transfers of
Financial Assets *

Financial Instruments ¢

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes -
Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets

Related Party Disclosures *

Amendment to HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation - Classification of
Rights Issues '

Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Prepayments
of a Minimum Funding Requirement °

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity
Instruments ?

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Apart from the above, the HKICPA has issued
Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 which sets out
amendments to a number of HKFRSs primarily with a
view to removing inconsistencies and clarifying wording.
The amendments to HKFRS 3 and HKAS 27 are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010,
whereas the amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7, HKAS
1, HKAS 34 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 13 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
although there are separate transitional provisions for
each standard.

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
February 2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2010

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2011

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2011

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2012
@ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those changes that are
expected to significantly affect the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part
of phase 1 of a comprehensive project to entirely
replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of
classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity
shall classify financial assets as subsequently measured at
either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial assets. This aims to improve and simplify
the approach for the classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of
HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to
HKFRS 9 to address financial liabilities (the “Additions”)
and incorporated in HKFRS 9 the current derecognition
principles of financial instruments of HKAS 39. Most of
the Additions were carried forward unchanged from
HKAS 39, while changes were made to the measurement
of financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO"). For
these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair
value of a liability that is attributable to changes in credit
risk must be presented in other comprehensive income
("OCI"). The remainder of the change in fair value is
presented in profit or loss, unless presentation of the
fair value change in respect of the liability’s credit risk in
OCI would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in
profit or loss. However, loan commitments and financial
guarantee contracts which have been designated under
the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its
entirety. Before this entire replacement, the guidance
in HKAS 39 on hedge accounting and impairment of
financial assets continues to apply.

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definition
of related parties. It also provides for a partial exemption
of related party disclosure to government-related entities
for transactions with the same government or entities
that are controlled, jointly controlled or significantly
influenced by the same government. The Group expects
to adopt HKAS 24 (Revised) from 1 January 2011 and the
comparative related party disclosures will be amended
accordingly.

While the adoption of the revised standard will result in
changes in the accounting policy, the revised standard
is unlikely to have any impact on the related party
disclosures as the Group currently does not have
any significant transactions with government-related
entities.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets
out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2011. There are separate transitional provisions for
each standard. While the adoption of some of the
amendments may result in changes in accounting
policies, none of these amendments are expected to
have a significant financial impact on the Group. Those
amendments that are expected to have a significant

impact on the Group's policies are as follows:

(@) HKFRS 3 Business Combinations: Clarifies
that the amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32
and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption
for contingent consideration do not apply to
contingent consideration that arose from business
combinations whose acquisition dates precede
the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).

In addition, the amendments limit

measurement choice of non-controlling interests
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets to components
of non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation. Other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at
their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by another

HKFRS.

The amendments also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced
and voluntarily replaced share-based payment

awards.

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(b)

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements:
Clarifies that an analysis of other comprehensive
income for each component of equity can be
presented either in the statement of changes
in equity or in the notes to the financial
statements.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: Clarifies that the consequential
amendments from HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008)
made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and HKAS 31 shall
be applied prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier if
HKAS 27 is applied earlier.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating

policies the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so

as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s

income statement to the extent of dividends received

and receivable. The Company’s interests in subsidiaries

are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

2.3
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual

arrangement, whereby the Group and other parties

undertake an economic activity. The joint venture

operates as a separate entity in which the Group and

the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers

stipulates the capital contributions of the joint venture

parties, the duration of the joint venture and the basis on

which the assets are to be realised upon its dissolution.

The profits and losses from the joint venture’s operations

and any distributions of surplus assets are shared by the

venturers, either in proportion to their respective capital

contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the

joint venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a)

a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not
have unilateral control, but has joint control,
directly or indirectly, over the joint venture;

an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral
or joint control, but holds, directly or indirectly,
generally not less than 20% of the joint venture's
registered capital and is in a position to exercise
significant influence over the joint venture; or

an equity investment accounted for in accordance
with HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, less than 20% of the joint venture’s
registered capital and has neither joint control
of, nor is in a position to exercise significant
influence over, the joint venture.
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31 December 2010 —ZE—ZF+—-A=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Jointly-controlled entity

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject
to joint control, resulting in none of the participating
parties having unilateral control over the economic
activity of the jointly-controlled entity.

The Group’s investment in a jointly-controlled entity
is stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets under the
equity method of accounting, less any impairment
losses. The Group's share of the post-acquisition results
and reserves of jointly-controlled entity is included in
the consolidated income statement and consolidated
reserves, respectively. Where the profit sharing ratio is
different to the Group’s equity interest, the share of
post-acquisition result of the jointly-controlled entity is
determined based on the agreed profit sharing ratio.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its jointly-controlled entity are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investment in
the jointly-controlled entity, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
jointly-controlled entity is included as part of the Group's
investment in a jointly-controlled entity.

When an investment in a jointly-controlled entity
is classified as held for sale, it is accounted for in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for
Sale and Discontinued Operations.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Associates

An associate is an entity, including an unincorporated
entity such as a partnership, not being a subsidiary or
a jointly-controlled entity, over which the Group has
significant influence.

The Group’'s investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share
of the post-acquisition results and reserves of associates
is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group and
its associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s
investments in the associates, except where unrealised
losses provide evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates, which was not previously eliminated or
recognised in the consolidated reserves, is included as
part of the Group’s investments in associates and is not
individually tested for impairment. Adjustments are made
to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that
may exist.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwiill
Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree either at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs
are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts by
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an
asset or liability is recognised in accordance with HKAS
39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it shall not be remeasured until it
is finally settled within equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)
Business combinations from 1 January 2010

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the net identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is, after
reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations from 1 January 2010
(continued)

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill
disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the
portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but
after 1 January 2005

In comparison to the above-mentioned requirements
which were applied on a prospective basis, the following
differences applied to business combinations prior to 1
January 2010:

Business combinations were accounted for using the
purchase method. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition formed part of the acquisition costs.
The non-controlling interest was measured at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets.

Business combinations achieved in stages were accounted
for as separate steps. Any additional acquired share of
interest did not affect previously recognised goodwill.

When the Group acquired a business, embedded
derivatives separated from the host contract by the
acquiree were not reassessed on acquisition unless the
business combination resulted in a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modified the cash
flows that otherwise would have been required under
the contract.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Business combinations prior to 1 January 2010 but
after 1 January 2005 (continued)

Contingent consideration was recognised if, and only
if, the Group had a present obligation, the economic
outflow was more likely than not and a reliable estimate
was determinable. Subsequent adjustments to the
contingent consideration were recognised as part of
goodwill.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, financial assets and goodwill),
the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-
generating unit’'s value in use and its fair value less
costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the income
statement in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for
that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of such an impairment loss is credited to the income
statement in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted for in
accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party, directly or indirectly through one or
more intermediaries, (i) controls, is controlled
by, or is under common control with, the Group;
(ii) has an interest in the Group that gives it
significant influence over the Group; or (iii) has
joint control over the Group;

(b) the party is an associate;

(c) the party is a jointly-controlled entity;

(d) the party is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or its parent;

(e) the party is a close member of the family of any
individual referred to in (a) or (d);
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(f) the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly
controlled or significantly influenced by or for
which significant voting power in such entity
resides with, directly or indirectly, any individual
referred to in (d) or (e); or

(9) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of the Group, or of any
entity that is a related party of the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location
for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after items
of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the income statement in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection
is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as a
replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant
and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciation.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the
values of property, plant and equipment are dealt with
as movements in the property, plant and equipment
revaluation reserve. If the total of this reserve is
insufficient to cover a deficit, on an individual asset
basis, the excess of the deficit is charged to the income
statement. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the income statement to the extent of the
deficit previously charged. An annual transfer from the
property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve to
retained profits is made for the difference between the
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of
an asset and the deprecation based on the asset’s original
cost. On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion
of the property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve
realised in respect of previous valuations is transferred to
retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost or valuation of each item of
property, plant and equipment to its residual value over
its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives used
for this purpose are as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms

Generation plant and 15 years
related structure

Furniture, fixtures and 5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 4 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the income
statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents property, plant
and equipment which are in their acquisition phase
and is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. The acquisition phase of an asset
includes the period when the asset is under construction,
installation and testing. Cost comprises the direct costs
of construction together with borrowing costs incurred
during the asset acquisition period that theoretically
could have been avoided if expenditure for the asset had
not been made. The capitalisation of borrowing costs
ceases when substantially all of the activities necessary
to prepare the asset for its intended use are completed.
Construction in progress is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when it is
completed and ready for use, notwithstanding any delays
in the issue of the relevant commissioning certificates by
the relevant authorities.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment property

Investment property is an interest in land and building
held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation,
rather than for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale
in the ordinary course of business. Such property is
measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the investment property
is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions
at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of the investment property are included in the income
statement in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the income
statement in the year of the retirement or disposal. For
a transfer from investing properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in
use.

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase
and financing. Assets held under capitalised finance
leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and
equipment, and depreciated over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets. The
finance costs of such leases are charged to the income
statement so as to provide a constant periodic rate of
charge over the lease terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Rentals payable under the
operating leases net of any incentives received from
the lessor are charged to the income statement on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on
the straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments
are included in the cost of the land and buildings as a
finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and receivables, and available-for-sale financial
investments, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The
Group determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value,
plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through
profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s financial assets include cash and bank
balances, pledged time deposits, trade and bills
receivables, available-for-sale investments, financial asset
under Project EC120, loan to a jointly-controlled entity,
loans to associates, loan to a related company, financial
assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include the financial assets held for trading and financial
assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value
through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of
sale in the near term. This category includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationship as defined by HKAS 39. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are carried in the statement
of financial position at fair value with changes in fair
value recognised in the income statement. These net fair
value changes do not include any dividends or interest
earned on these financial assets, which are recognised
in accordance with the policy set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(continued)

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether
the intent to sell them in the near term is still appropriate.
When the Group is unable to trade these financial assets
due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell
them in the foreseeable future significantly changes,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets
in rare circumstances. The reclassification from financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets or held-
to-maturity investments depends on the nature of the
assets. This evaluation does not affect any financial
assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option at designation.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted
for as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if
their economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not held for trading or designated at fair
value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in the income statement. Reassessment only
occurs if there is a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. After initial measurement,
such assets are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate method less any
allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated
by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest
rate amortisation is included in other income in the
income statement. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the income statement in other operating
expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt
securities and financial asset under Project EC120 as
set out in notes 21 and 20, respectively, to the financial
statements. Equity investments classified as available for
sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated at fair value through profit or
loss. Debt securities in this category are those which are
intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or
in response to changes in market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve until the investment is
derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in the income statement, or until
the investment is determined to be impaired, at which
time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the
income statement and removed from the available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve. Interest and
dividends earned are reported as interest income and
dividend income, respectively and are recognised in the
income statement as other income in accordance with
the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity securities cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the
range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant
for that investment or (b) the probabilities of the various
estimates within the range cannot be reasonably assessed
and used in estimating fair value, such securities are
stated at cost less any impairment losses.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates its available-for-sale financial assets
whether the ability and intention to sell them in the
near term are still appropriate. When the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive
markets and management’s intent to do so significantly
changes in the foreseeable future, the Group may elect
to reclassify these financial assets in rare circumstances.
Reclassification to loans and receivables is permitted
when the financial assets meet the definition of loans
and receivables and the Group has the intent and
ability to hold these assets for the foreseeable future
or to maturity. Reclassification to the held-to-maturity
category is permitted only when the entity has the
ability and intent to hold until the maturity date of the
financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified out of the available-for-
sale category, any previous gain or loss on that asset
that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit
or loss over the remaining life of the investment using
the effective interest rate. Any difference between the
new amortised cost and the expected cash flows is also
amortised over the remaining life of the asset using
the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded
in equity is reclassified to the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised when:

J the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under
a "pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group
has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial
asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A
financial asset or a group of financial assets is deemed
to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence
of impairment as a result of one or more events that
has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset
(an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the
financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may
include indications that a debtor or a group of debtors
is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation and observable data indicating
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated
future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses individually whether objective evidence of
impairment exists for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are
not individually significant. If the Group determines
that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets
with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment
loss is, or continues to be, recognised are not included
in a collective assessment of impairment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not yet been incurred).
The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate,
the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is
the current effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss
is recognised in the income statement. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss. Loans and receivables together with any
associated allowance are written off when there is no
realistic prospect of future recovery and all collateral has
been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised,
the previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future
write-off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to
other expenses in the income statement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the income statement, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. The determination of what is “significant”

r ""prolonged” requires judgement. “Significant” is
evaluated against the original cost of the investment
and “prolonged” against the period in which the fair
value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognised in the income statement
— is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are
not reversed through the income statement. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly
in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for
sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However,
the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative
loss measured as the difference between the amortised
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment
loss on that investment previously recognised in the
income statement. Future interest income continues
to be accrued based on the reduced carrying amount
of the asset and is accrued using the rate of interest
used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. The interest income
is recorded as part of other income. Impairment losses
on debt instruments are reversed through the income
statement if the increase in fair value of the instruments
can be objectively related to an event occurring after
the impairment loss was recognised in the income
statement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are
classified as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge,
as appropriate. The Group determines the classification
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and in the case of loans and borrowings, plus directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills
payable, other payables and accruals, interest-bearing
bank borrowings and financial guarantee contracts.

Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which
case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in the income statement when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest
rate method amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially
as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contract at the
higher of: (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation
at the end of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or
expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the income
statement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the
assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded
in active markets is determined by reference to quoted
market prices or dealer price quotations (bid price
for long positions and ask price for short positions),
without any deduction for transaction costs. For
financial instruments where there is no active market,
the fair value is determined using appropriate valuation
techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions; reference to the current
market value of another instrument which is substantially
the same; a discounted cash flow analysis; and option
pricing models.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
the income statement.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group
operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o where the deferred tax liability arises from
goodwill or the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, where the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carryforward of unused tax credits
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss;
and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences
can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is
recognised as income over the periods necessary to
match the grant on a systematic basis to the costs that
it is intended to compensate. Where the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the income statement over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal
annual instalments.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when
the revenue can be measured reliably, on the following
bases:

(a) from the sale of electric and steam power, based
on actual consumption derived from the reading
of meters during the year;

(b) from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters, when the Group’s
right to receive its share of profit from Project
EC120 has been established (note 20);

(c) from the rendering of services, when the services
are rendered;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) interest income, on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the
rate that discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument to the net carrying amount of the
financial asset;

(e) rental income, on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms;

(f) government grants, on a systematic basis over the
periods necessary to match the grant to the costs
that it is intended to compensate;

(9) income from the sale of coal residues, when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership,
nor effective control over the goods sold; and

(h) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of
the Group's operations. The associate of the Group, Sino
Gas Group limited (“Sino Gas"), also operates a share
option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of Sino Gas’ operations. Employees
(including directors) receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments
("equity-settled transaction”).
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over
the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end
of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group's best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the income statement for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as
at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not
ultimately vest, except for equity-settled transactions
where vesting is conditional upon a market or non-vesting
condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether or not the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the
award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value
of the share-based payment transaction, or is otherwise
beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph. All cancellations of equity-settled
transaction awards are treated equally.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

The cost of cash-settled transactions is measured initially
at fair value at the grant date taking into account the
terms and conditions upon which the instruments were
granted. The fair value is expensed over the period until
the vesting date with recognition of a corresponding
liability. The liability is measured at the end of each
reporting period up to and including the settlement
date, with changes in fair value recognised in the
Group's income statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to the income statement as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when contributed into the
MPF scheme.

Prior to the MPF Scheme being effective, the Group
operated a defined contribution provident fund for
those employees who were eligible and had elected
to participate in the fund. This fund operated in a
way similar to the MPF Scheme, except that when an
employee left the fund prior to his/her interest in the
Group's employer contributions vesting fully, the ongoing
contributions payable by the Group were reduced by
the relevant amount of forfeited contributions. Upon
the implementation of the MPF Scheme with effect
from 1 December 2000, the provident fund was frozen
and no further contributions by the Group or the
eligible employees were made after that date. When
eligible employees leave the Group, they receive their
entitlements pursuant to the existing rules of this fund.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e.,
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation
of such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in
the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars, which is the Company’s functional
and presentation currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. All differences are taken to the income
statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transaction.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries,
jointly-controlled entity and associates are currencies
other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Company at exchange rates ruling at the end
of the reporting period and their income statements
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive
income relating to that particular foreign operation is
recognised in the income statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of the overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the
year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the end of the
reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes
that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the
future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Classification between investment property and owner-
occupied property

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment property and owner-
occupied property (continued)

Some properties comprise a portion that is held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation and another
portion that is held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately (or leased out
separately under a finance lease), the Group accounts for
the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if
an insignificant portion is held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so
significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Impairment of assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the
event previously causing the impairment no longer
exists, the Group has to exercise judgement in the
area of asset impairment, particularly in assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred that may affect the
asset value or such event affecting the asset value has
not been in existence; (2) whether the carrying value of
an asset can be supported by the net present value of
future cash flows which are estimated based upon the
continued use of the asset or derecognition; and (3) the
appropriate key assumptions to be applied in preparing
cash flow projections including whether these cash flow
projections are discounted using an appropriate rate.
Changing the assumptions selected by the management
to determine the level of impairment, including the
discount rates or the growth rate assumptions in the
cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification of equity investments among investment
in subsidiary, investment in associate and investment
in jointly-controlled entity

In determining whether an equity investment is classified
as investment in subsidiary, investment in associate
and investment in jointly-controlled entity, the Group
considers a number of factors including (1) whether the
Group has the power to exercise control; (2) whether
the Group can exercise significant influence; and (3)
whether the participating parties have unilateral control
over the operating and financial policies of the investee
company.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to
which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to make an estimate of the
expected future cash flows from the cash-generating
unit and also to choose a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value of those cash flows. As
at 31 December 2010, the carrying amount of goodwill
on the acquisition of a subsidiary was HK$30,493,201
(2009: HK$30,493,201). Further details are included in
note 16 to the financial statements.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future
tax planning strategies. As at 31 December 2010, the
amount of unrecognised tax losses was approximately
HK$15,456,000 (2009: HK$15,456,000). Further details
are included in note 31 to the financial statements.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. They are tested for impairment when
there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying
value of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value
less costs to sell and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs to sell is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of a financial asset under Project EC120

The Group determines whether the financial asset under
Project EC120 is impaired on an annual basis. As at
31 December 2010, the Group considered that the
discounted future cash flows generated from the sale
of helicopters in respect of the financial asset were
insignificant. As at 31 December 2009, the financial
asset had been valued based on discounted future cash
flows generated from the sale of helicopters covering
a 6-year period by applying a suitable discount rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows. The carrying amount of the financial asset under
Project EC120 at 31 December 2010 was nil (2009:
HK$3,459,462). Further details are included in note 20
to the financial statements.

Fair value of unlisted investments

Certain of the unlisted investments included in available-
for-sale investments which were stated at fair value have
been valued based on the expected cash flows discounted
at current rates applicable for items with similar terms
and risk characteristics. This valuation requires the Group
to make estimates about expected future cash flows and
discount rates, volatility of underlying securities, risk-free
interest rate and other factors relevant to the underlying
securities, and hence they are subject to uncertainty.
The fair value of these unlisted investments included in
available-for-sale investments at 31 December 2010 was
HK$29,033,802 (2009: HK$25,200,663). Further details
are included in note 21 to the financial statements.

Management has estimated the potential effect of using
reasonably possible alternatives as inputs to the valuation
model, and considered that the fair values using less
or more favourable assumptions are not significantly
different from the carrying values.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Useful lives and residual values of items of property,
plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values of
items of property, plant and equipment, the Group has
to consider various factors, such as expected usage of
the asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and
maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on
the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of
the asset is based on the experience of the Group with
similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/
or the residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment are different from previous estimation. Useful
lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of
each financial year based on changes in circumstances.
The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31 December 2010 was HK$303,725,964 (2009:
HK$281,864,870). Further details are included in note
14 to the financial statements.

Impairment of trade and bills receivables

The Group maintains an allowance for estimated losses
arising from the inability of its customers to make the
required payments. The Group makes its estimates based
on the ageing of its trade and bills receivable balances,
customers’ creditworthiness, and historical write-off
experience. If the financial condition of its customers
was to deteriorate so that the actual impairment loss
might be higher than expected, the Group would be
required to revise the basis of making the allowance and
its future results would be affected. The carrying amount
of trade and bills receivables at 31 December 2010 was
HK$40,368,355 (2009: HK$32,488,155). Further details
are included in note 23 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the electric and steam power supply segment
engages in the generation and sale of electric and
steam power; and

(b) Project EC120 segment engages in the share of
profit from the development, manufacture and
distribution of helicopters.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resources allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit/(loss), which is a measure
of adjusted profit/(loss) for the year. The adjusted profit/
(loss) for the year is measured consistently with the
Group’s profit/(loss) for the year except that head
office’s other income and gains, deficit on revaluation
of an investment property, gain on partial disposal of
investment in a jointly-controlled entity, gain on deemed
disposal of an associate, gain on disposal of subsidiaries,
share of profits and losses of jointly-controlled entity
and associates, gain on disposal of available-for-sale
investments, fair value gain/(loss) on derivative financial
instrument as well as head office and corporate expenses
and unallocated income tax are excluded from such
measurement.
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4.

OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

Electric and steam

Rl

4, &

LEoHER (&)

power supply Project EC120 Total
EARFAME EC120%EH Bt
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009
“E-Z% C-TTNF ZB-Bf C"TTHhFE C-E-Bf CTTNF
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET FiET FET FAT FET FAT
Segment revenue: A
Sales to external customers MR FHE 273,732 227,041 654 1,718 274,386 228,759
Segment results PEEE 21,038 6,041 (4,037) (5,005) 17,001 1,036
Reconciliation: Bk
Unallocated other income KA EEMRARFE
and gains 3,496 10,133
Corporate and other PEREMRSERY
unallocated expenses (19,023) (18,364)
Deficit on revaluation RENEERERE
of an investment property - (700)
Gain on partial disposal HEBHLRZEERR
of investment in a REZHE
jointly-controlled entity 54,996 =
Gain on deemed disposal of 1§43 AHEBL N E 2 FIH
an associate 1,600 -
Gain on disposal of HEHBARZHE
subsidiaries - 1,205
Share of profits and HMERFIREE :
losses of:
Jointly-controlled entity HREEAR 3,495 486
Associates NG (9,142) (4,723)
Gain on disposal of HEM &R
available-for-sale BEZFIH
investments - 32,122
Fair value gain/(loss) on ESRIEZATE
derivative financial 58/ (E18)
instrument (5,919) 11,366
Unallocated income RAWAEHAZ
tax expense (2,824) (7,855)
Profit for the year REFH 43,680 24,706
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OPERATING SEGMENT 4. RBEHIER (&)
INFORMATION (continued)

Electric and steam

power supply Project EC120 Total
ENRERME EC120%8 a5t
2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

—2-8F TTNF  CR-%F ZTTNF  CR-%8F ITAR
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn AT TEx AT TEx AT

Other segment HitAHEH :
information:
Bank interest income HITFIEMA 759 1,687 1,156 192 1,915 1,879
Unallocated amounts APELE 1,057 527
2,972 2,406
Interest income on loans  [AEEE A E)IRALE
to associates B MBHEA - = - 1,301 - 1,301
Unallocated amounts AOELE 1,133 1,116
1,133 2,417
Depreciation & (17,205) (16,263) (408) (409) (17,613) (16,672)
Unallocated amounts Vo] (1,032) (1,291)
(18,645) (17,963)
Finance costs BB (3,971) (1,570) - = (3,971) (1,570)
Surplus/(deficit) on 0% BENREER
revaluation of items BiR%/(BE)
of property, plant and
equipment (1,526) 1,007 - - (1,526) 1,007
Impairment of a financial ~ EC1203E 2 B8 &
asset under Project A
EC120 - - (3,459) (6,000) (3,459) (6,000)

0L0Z 140d3d TVNNNV SOL

&—&_—

=

Hhd



EHE ($8) HIEFLERETZWEGH paywi] OH) bulp|oH [euoneusdiu] DIAY - 90L

4.

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

(a)

(b)

Revenue from external customers

N

RS ER (&)

@)  KEsEEF Y

2010 2009

—B-2F —ETNEF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FEIT

Mainland China AR A 3 274,386 228,759

The revenue information above is based on the
location of the customers.

Non-current assets

bt mENTIEERER
Z T E S o

(b) FRBEE

2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF

HK$°000 HK$°000

FET FET

Hong Kong &5 181,107 140,146
Mainland China AR B A 1,356,287 369,191
1,537,394 509,337

The non-current asset information above is based
on the location of assets and excludes financial
instruments.

Information about a major customer

Revenue of approximately HK$41,960,000 (2009:
HK$45,792,000) was derived from sales by the electric
and steam power supply segment to a single customer.
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Wz ~ Efbl A RFIE

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5.
GAINS

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents
the net invoiced value of electric and steam power sold
and the income from Project EC120 for the development,
manufacture and distribution of helicopters.

An analysis of revenue, other income and gains is as
follows:

Wk (MBEIAEE 2 E%¥%) HER
BHEEENRER2EZFE N
EREME HEREHEAEAKZ
EC120I5B 2 A »

Yz

HWARFBEDIHMAT

2010 2009
—E-EF —EENF
HK$ HKS$
B JBET
Revenue Uz
Generation and sale of electric FEMBEEENINREAR
and steam power 273,731,630 227,040,527
Share of profit from Project EC120 H1GK B FA% - Rk M AS S
for the development, EFA#.2EC12018 B 2% A
manufacture and distribution
of helicopters 654,454 1,718,434
274,386,084 228,758,961
Other income Habug A
Bank interest income RITH B HA 2,972,264 2,406,328
Interest income on convertible BB S N R IT 2 AR E S
bonds issued by an associate ZF B WA 550,000 485,535
Interest income on loans AN TIRENER 2
to associates T2 A 1,133,252 2,416,799
Interest income on other receivable E &Y BE 2k >~ F B g A 755,562 932,438
Income from installation of LTEMIR &R Z WA
infrastructure for steam supply 6,873,938 5,082,391
Government grants* BIF#BE* 304,662 989,204
Income from sale of coal residues HEEEZ WA 1,439,891 2,331,475
Dividend income from an unlisted 3JF EFmalftHERNITE
available-for-sale investment B% B U A - 6,937,490
Gross rental income eI A Bz - 133,780
Others Hih 243,805 101,009
14,273,374 21,816,449
Gains F 5
Gains on disposal of items of HEDE  BEMK
property, plant and equipment IHE 2 AH - 236,172
14,273,374 22,052,621
& Various coal price subsidies and government grants * TN T BR AT 3PP B B4 2% TH AR ik

relating to anti-pollution research activities in Hangzhou,
the PRC, have been received from the government
authorities in Hangzhou. Government grants received for
which related expenditure has not yet been undertaken
are included in deferred income in the statement of
financial position. There are no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies relating to these grants.

BB R R A BTN ETT Z
IR 5205 By e (1t 2 TR BT 76 B)
£ - HEERY AR HED K
M RN B ISR R RS
BREWA— TR - BRALER
B R HEREMBERT G
R HAEIR -

0L0Z 140d3d TVNNNVY /Ol
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6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

BR B B 2 A

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBZBRBANGEN DB (G
(crediting): A)
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNE
Notes HKS$ HK$
Hfat BT =
Cost of electric and HEE ) REARZKAR
steam power supply 237,264,158 210,414,841
Depreciation e 14 18,645,488 17,963,389
Minimum lease payments under 4 MR FAC TR 4
operating leases on land Z&EHRS
and buildings 591,733 569,833
Recognition of prepaid land WRIBA LA ER
lease payments 15 736,905 728,531
Employee benefit expense EERETNER
(excluding directors’ (TEEESHE
remuneration (note 8)): (H1it8)) :
Wages and salaries ITERF® 15,249,489 14,125,109
Pension scheme contributions* RIREET IR 524,659 491,263
15,774,148 14,616,372
Other operating Hig& st/
expenses/(income), net: (A JF5E -
Provision for impairment of trade EBWE ZFEAKRERE
and bills receivables, net BB S 23 156,202 427,947
Write-off/(recovery) of other HAh IR K 2
receivables sy (Yem) (254,933) 49,864
Provision/(write-back of IS IERA BT
provision) for financial (Bt o)
guarantee contracts (160,919) 284,091
(259,650) 761,902
Auditors’ remuneration 2 BN B 1,690,000 1,300,000
Foreign exchange differences, net  4NE 57 1R =58 558 (58,753) (157,429)
Rental income on investment B Z HEWATR
property less direct operating HEEERX
expenses of nil (2009: Nil) ZZETNF  E) - (133,780)
* At 31 December 2010, the Group had no forfeited * R-F-—TF+ZA=+—8"

contributions available to reduce its contributions to

the pension scheme in future years (2009: Nil).

A E2 B3 S AR 2 0% WA SR AT
1B D RWFEE 2 RIS 5B
R (ZETNF : |) o
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FINANCE COSTS 7. BMBEX
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: PRSI T -
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-EF ZZETNF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Interest on bank loans wholly ARAFREHEELZ
repayable within five years RITERZHE 3,971,438 1,570,251
DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM<E
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RiF EMARRRELERREDIZE161
to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong BEBsANFESEHMEOT ¢
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNEF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Fees: e
Executive Directors WITES 206,416 224,516
Non-executive Directors FEHITES 500,000 420,000
706,416 644,516
Other emoluments (Executive HEe (TES)
Directors):
Salaries, allowances and e R REDN &=
benefits in kind 4,159,733 4,137,835
Pension scheme contributions RIKSEHEHE R 254,040 254,040
4,413,773 4,391,875

5,120,189 5,036,391

0L0Z 14Od3d TVNNNVY 60L
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8. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 8. EEMe (&
(continued)
(a) Independent Non-executive Directors (a) BIEFTE=S

The fees paid to Independent Non-executive

REAXN TEIFERTE

Directors during the year were as follows: EZHRSIT
2010 2009
—E-ZF —TTAF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Chu Yu Lin, David Kok 160,000 120,000
Li Ka Fai, David TRME 160,000 120,000
Li Zhaoxi ZIKER 60,000 60,000
380,000 300,000

There were no other emoluments payable to the
Independent Non-executive Directors during the

year (2009: Nil). F ) o

RERILEEMEN TEL
FHTEZEME (ZFTN

(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) HITESR—EHFBTES
Director
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration
2= 1 Bk
rE RENAZ HE Mews
2010 HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
“E-2%f BT B BT B
Executive Directors: HITES
Wu Guangquan R 28,935 - - 28,935
Fu Shula g 7,065 - - 7,065
Jiang Wei =& 22,452 - - 22,452
Ji Guirong T 36,000 3,447,733 219,000 3,702,733
Liu Rongchun LS 36,000 - - 36,000
Pan Linwu DALIVEY 36,000 - - 36,000
Zhang Chuanjun REE 36,000 712,000 35,040 783,040
Ma Zhiping ST 3,964 - - 3,964
206,416 4,159,733 254,040 4,620,189
Non-executive Director: FRTEE:
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond HEi 120,000 - - 120,000
326,416 4,159,733 254,040 4,740,189
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EEM< (&
(continued)
(b) Executive Directors and a Non-executive (b) HITEER-—BIFTES
Director (continued) (4&)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees inkind  contributions  remuneration
e 2l RIRkE
we  REDAE FTEIHT [k
2009 HK$ HK$ HKS HK$
—TTNF BT BT BT BT
Executive Directors: HITESR:
Fu Shula N &F 36,000 - - 36,000
Ji Guirong =] 36,000 3,425,835 219,000 3,680,835
Ma Zhiping BEF 36,000 - = 36,000
Liu Rongchun %% 36,000 = = 36,000
Pan Linwu B 36,000 = = 36,000
Zhang Chuanjun REE 36,000 712,000 35,040 783,040
Wang Xinkuo T 8,516 = = 8,516
224,516 4,137,835 254,040 4,616,391
Non-executive Director: FRTES >
Ip Tak Chuen, Edmond 2 120,000 - - 120,000 z
344,516 4,137,835 254,040 4,736,391 ;
There was no arrangement under which a director FAVEFWLHREES 3
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration WEXFREREEMMHE - i
during the year. e
]

Hhd
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9.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 0.
The five highest paid employees included one (2009:

two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set

out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the

remaining four (2009: three) non-director, highest paid

employees for the year are as follows:

TEREFHES
IEBRBHRAGE % (ZF2h
FmEB) EE - HEWS 2 HER
R SRS - KBIE (ZFFN
F =) AFREHIESEEY
WMo 2 S -

Group

REH
2010 2009
—E-2F —ETNEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Basic salaries, allowances and EXge  EUREYFZ=

benefits in kind 3,348,000 2,362,000
Pension scheme contributions BRIRES TR 157,680 113,880
Performance related bonuses TERIBAEBEICA 250,000 220,000
3,755,680 2,695,880

The number of non-director, highest paid employees

whose remuneration fell within the following bands is

as follows:

MeETIHEZESFHFEERE
2R :

Number of employees

EE#E
2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,001 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7C% 1,500,000/ 7T 1 -
4 3




10.

Notes to Financial Statements B} %5 $§ 3% it 5%

INCO AX
Hong K rofits tax has been provided at the rate
of 16.5% (2009: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable

profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on
profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries/jurisdictions in
which the Group operates.

31 December 2010 —E—FF+=-F=+—H

10. Fr8®

REBERAFRRRES 2G5
JERFROEFIZ16.5% (ZTTHF ¢
16.5%) 2 Bt & 1E H & 7 F 15 B &
18 o H i@ fE R BUE F 2 BB H
XERASEKENERR EERE
HERZHEGTE -

Group

rEE
2010 2009
—E-EF —ZETNEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current — Hong Kong BEf — &% 123,870 153,054
- Elsewhere — HhipE 7,800,549 12,370,763
Deferred (note 31) BIE (F75E31) 2,175,434 (144,065)
Total tax charge for the year ANEFRIBR Y A% 10,099,853 12,379,752
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to
profit/(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of

10. FRE® (47
BARARAEBHBAAFEE
B 2k B A AR R B
BT (1) ROBE S 1 LA

its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax charge for the RIS Z AHROT
year is as follows:
Group - 2010
rEE-—Z-FF
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
E ElR CL
HKS$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BRERLEF (BE) (27,333,141) 81,113,089 53,779,948
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEEHEMEZRE (4,509,968) 20,278,272 15,768,304
Profits and losses attributable AELREERFREE AT
to jointly-controlled entity 2R ER
and associates 1,235,416 (459,995) 775,421
Effect of withholding tax at 10%  #&ZEFENMz AEE
on the distributable profits MBAR DR
of the Group’s subsidiary B Z10%:1E 2
in Mainland China SEE Lol % 2,700,000 - 2,700,000
Income not subject to tax BAEMFHIA (543,090) (13,749,085) (14,292,175)
Expenses not deductible for tax ~ REHIH 2B 3,941,513 1,206,790 5,148,303
Tax charge for the year AERIBEHST 2,823,871 7,275,982 10,099,853
Group — 2009
NEE - —TTNE
Mainland
Hong Kong China Total
B A At
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Profit/(loss) before tax BREANER /(FE) (1,984,723) 39,070,385 37,085,662
Tax at the statutory tax rates BEAEMRE 2B (327,479) 7,814,077 7,486,598
Profits and losses attributable AMEERERER R KBS AR
to jointly-controlled entity a7 REE
and associates (724,198) (123,021) (847,219)
Income not subject to tax BELTUA (2,241,551) (422,583) (2,664,134)
Expenses not deductible for tax ~ AEHMZHX 3,446,282 4,958,225 8,404,507
Tax charge for the year AERIEH T 153,054 12,226,698 12,379,752
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INCOME TAX (continued)

During the 5th Session of the 10th National People’s
Congress, which was concluded on 16 March 2007, the
PRC Corporate Income Tax Law (the “New Corporate
Income Tax Law"”) was approved and became effective
on 1 January 2008. The New Corporate Income Tax Law
introduces a wide range of changes which include, but
are not limited to, the unification of the income tax rate
for domestic-invested and foreign-invested enterprises at
25%. In addition, for those enterprises benefiting from
lower preferential tax rates, such preferential rates will
be gradually phased out by increasing them to 25% over
five years from the effective date of the New Corporate
Income Tax Law. A concessionary tax rate of 22% (2009:
20%) is applicable to Zhejiang Sealand Thermoelectric
Share-Holding Co.
concessionary tax rate will be gradually increased to
25% by the year 2012.

("Zhejiang Sealand”) and such

The share of tax attributable to jointly-controlled entity
and associates amounting to HK$453,080 (2009: Nil)
and HK$2,619,849 (2009: HK$3,429,076), respectively,
is included in “Share of profits and losses of jointly-
controlled entity and associates” in the consolidated

income statement.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of
the parent for the year ended 31 December 2010 includes
a loss of HK$34,472,202 (2009: HK$11,148,218) which
has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (note 34(b)).

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amounts is
based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent of HK$36,061,524 (2009:
HK$23,772,415) and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares of 4,754,397,000 (2009: 4,754,397,000)
in issue during the year.

10.

11.

12.

Frie® (&)

RZZEZELF=ATAHAEMNE
TEZ2EARRKRAGELRES
L RIS fRi(F%ﬁm%Fﬁ
BRUE]D BEME YR

¢ A—BRBEM- %ﬁm%ﬁﬁ %R
ESIA—RYNEE - BF (ETR
) BRINECENEREE—5&
25% ° IbAh - R EZ T BEER
TENE  BEREBEHRCERR
EPEEMB BT AFARZES
AEE25% c MTHBHBERMNHAE
AR ([E ?ﬁ%ﬂ%&J) HAMEED
2% (ZZFZNF :20%) * #%
BEMEEESASE T ——F
#925% o

%15 LRZEEAR R E QR 2B
2 Bl &2453,0808 L (Z T ZT A,
i #) 12,619,849 L (—Z T T
L 3,429,076/ 7T) B BIELER
Bl ETR 2 [ DG HLRERE A 7] K
ERRAZERANREER] A -

REEERFEAERGRR

HZE —EF+ZA=+—HI
%:z AT A ABGGE &
Flh - BIERA R A B ®REFTE
Z 5 1834,4722028 T (22 A,
F 0 11,148,21887T) (AaE34(b)) »

R EEEESAAERA
BRER

BREABFDRBEQA AL RER
F B A FE1G A F % 7)36,061,52478
T (ZZEZTNF : 23,772,4155 7T)
REANBBTERBR 2 MEFHE
4,754,397,000f% (= & & h F :
4,754,397,0000%) 5+ &
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12.

13.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. AEEERAFREAEWN
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY BREF (&)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(continued)
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings rEERBE—Z—ZTFER-ZFT
per share amounts presented for the years ended 31 NFE+ZA=+—HBLEFELESD
December 2010 and 2009 in respect of a dilution as the BOBCEET AR ALV EY
Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue ZEFEER 2ERERNBN &5
during those years. EL BTS2 A% -
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 13. REWZ
Group and Company
AEERAEADT
2010 2009
—B-2F ZETNF
HK$ HK$
Er BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEAE - 18,300,000
Net loss from a fair value NHERARZ FEE
adjustment - (700,000)
Transfer to owner-occupied EAXFERME (HitF14)

property (note 14)

(17,600,000)

Carrying amount at 31 December

R+ A=+—RZKEHE

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the
investment property situated in Hong Kong and held
under a medium term lease had been taken up by the
Company as its office premises upon the expiry of the
operating lease agreement with a shareholder of the
Company, and had been transferred to land and building
at its carrying amount of HK$17,600,000 (note 14),
based on the valuation performed by the directors on
an open market, existing use basis.

BHE-_TTAF+=-A=+—AH1t
FE - ZNREALREFRHELD
BENDERARARE —ZR
EREEEER A BREARA
AR YEARLHHRETF
B RBEEERAHETELREER
BREEETNGHEE HEEEAS
17,600,000 7T (Htat14) °
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Y172 ] .}
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y% - BENRE
EQUIPMENT
Group
rEE
Generation
plant and Furniture,
Construction Land and related fixtures and Motor
in progress buildings structure  equipment vehicles Total
BRERER  HW 2B
ERIR 1 RETF BERE SET hat:d At
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HKS
BT BT BT BT BT BT
31 December 2010 “E-ZF+-A=1-H
At 31 December 2009 and  R=—ZZNF
at 1 January 2010: TZA=+t-BR
“Z-ZF-f-H
Cost or valuation B f{E 51,692,792 116,750,959 142,510,181 2,849,157 9,592,413 323,395,502
Accumulated depreciation ~ RFENE - (34,266,589) - (1,760,008)  (5,504,035) (41,530,632)
Net carrying amount BEFE 51,692,792 82,484,370 142,510,181 1,089,149 4,088,378 281,864,870
At 1 January 2010, netof R=-ZT—F%—-F—H "
accumulated depreciation  HfR2EME 51,692,792 82,484,370 142,510,181 1,089,149 4,088,378 281,864,870
Additions NE 17,800,577 - 1,236,598 1,090 1,015,182 20,053,447 3
Transfers i (70,158,024) 6,753,422 63,404,602 - - - .
Surplus on revaluation BhE% - - 11,992,360 - - 11,992,360 =
Depreciation provided FRTERE s
during the year - (3,818,205)  (13,302,775) (281,881)  (1,242,627) (18,645,488) %
Exchange realignment 0 5 A 1,824,451 1,837,087 4,716,764 727 81,746 8,460,775 3
-
At 31 December 2010, RZT-ZF N
o
net of accumulated +-A=+-8" =
depreciation MR 2BNE 1,159,796 87,256,674 210,557,730 809,085 3,942,679 303,725,964 ‘!ch
At 31 December 2010: RZE-FF “)lﬂi
+-f=+-8: a
Cost or valuation BRARS fE 1,159,796 126,553,827 210,557,730 2,851,670 10,877,343 352,000,366 -
Accumulated depreciation  RFEHE - (39,297,153) - (2,042,585)  (6,934,664) (48,274,402)
Net carrying amount RHFE 1,159,796 87,256,674 210,557,730 809,085 3,942,679 303,725,964
Analysis of cost or valuation: fX A EEDHT :
At cost B 1,159,796 126,553,827 - 2,851,670 10,877,343 141,442,636
At 31 December 2010 BR-Z-TF
valuation +-A=1+—-H
S {k(E - - 210,557,730 - - 210,557,730

1,159,796 126,553,827 210,557,730 2,851,670 10,877,343 352,000,366
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Group (continued)

REM (&)

14. Y¥ - RENRE (&)

Generation
plant and Furniture,
Construction Land and related  fixtures and Motor
in progress buildings structure equipment vehicles Total
¥ERER &KW KB
ERIR  1HREF BEZ Rk 78 G
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT BT
31 December 2009 —ZEENFE+-A=1t-B
At 1 January 2009: RIZZNF-A-R:
Cost or valuation RAKfE 24,283,101 96,671,331 129,297,774 1,603,491 8,602,975 260,458,672
Accumulated depreciation ~ RFENE - (30,380,043) - (1,301,478)  (5,303,100) (36,984,621)
Net carrying amount FEFE 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
At 1 January 2009, netof R=-EZAE-A-H-
accumulated depreciation R 2EME 24,283,101 66,291,288 129,297,774 302,013 3,299,875 223,474,051
Additions NE 47,970,900 157,640 403,927 1,245,483 2,040,046 51,817,996
Transfer from investment  BRAMEEE (H:13)
property (note 13) - 17,600,000 - - - 17,600,000
Disposals HeE = = (3,827) = = (3,827)
Transfers Ei (20,671,586) 1,940,528 18,731,058 - - -
Surplus on revaluation EXRrdS = = 5,978,354 = = 5,978,354
Depreciation provided FERFTERE
during the year - (3,753,910) (12,484,821) (458,493)  (1,266,165)  (17,963,389)
Exchange realignment JE 5, 5% 110,377 248,824 587,716 146 14,622 961,685
At 31 December 2009, RZZZNETZA
net of accumulated =t—H:
depreciation R 2BNE 51,692,792 82,484,370 142,510,181 1,089,149 4,088,378 281,864,870
At 31 December 2009: RZZENFTZA
=f—H:
Cost or valuation BRARS i E 51,692,792 116,750,959 142,510,181 2,849,157 9,592,413 323,395,502
Accumulated depreciation  RFEHE - (34,266,589) - (1,760,008)  (5,504,035) (41,530,632)
Net carrying amount REFE 51,692,792 82,484,370 142,510,181 1,089,149 4,088,378 281,864,870
Analysis of cost or valuation: fX RS EEDHT :
At cost B 51,692,792 116,750,959 - 2,849,157 9,592,413 180,885,321
At 31 December 2009 BZZENFTZA
valuation =t-RzIHE - - 142,510,181 - - 142,510,181
51,692,792 116,750,959 142,510,181 2,849,157 9,592,413 323,395,502
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14. Y% - BENRHE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company
b YN
Furniture,
Land and fixtures and Motor
building equipment vehicle Total
B £EB
TREF T AE &t
HKS$ HKS$ HKS$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
31 December 2010 25
+=A=+-A8
At 31 December 2009 and R-ZTZTNE+_-A
1 January 2010: =t+—BAk=ZZ%—
—H—8:
Cost [B%N 30,350,000 2,808,821 331,547 33,490,368
Accumulated depreciation  REHTE (1,957,143)  (1,744,794) (331,547) (4,033,484)
Net carrying amount RmEFE 28,392,857 1,064,027 - 29,456,884
At 1 January 2010, netof WZZT—FTE—H—H -
accumulated depreciation R EFEINE 28,392,857 1,064,027 - 29,456,884
Additions nE - 1,090 - 1,090
Depreciation provided FRITERE
during the year (757,143) (275,104) - (1,032,247)
At 31 December 2010, RZE—TF
net of accumulated +-—A=+—8"
depreciation R 2BIE 27,635,714 790,013 - 28,425,727
At 31 December 2010: R-Z—ZF
+-A=t+—8:
Cost D@ 30,350,000 2,809,911 331,547 33,491,458
Accumulated depreciation ZFEIE (2,714,286) (2,019,898) (331,547) (5,065,731)
Net carrying amount REFE 27,635,714 790,013 - 28,425,727
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

Company (continued)

KRNF (&)

14. Y% BENRE (&

Furniture,
Land and  fixtures and Motor
building equipment vehicle Total
Bk EE
T REF B Y=} B
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT Bt BT BT
31 December 2009 —TTNF
+-A=+—8
At 1 January 2009: RZZEZENF-A—H:
Cost (DN 12,750,000 1,563,337 331,547 14,644,884
Accumulated depreciation ZFEITE (1,200,000)  (1,293,419) (248,660)  (2,742,079)
Net carrying amount EEFE 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
At 1 January 2009, net of R-ZETHE—HF—H -
accumulated depreciation ¥k Z2FENE 11,550,000 269,918 82,887 11,902,805
Additions INE - 1,245,484 - 1,245,484
Transfer from investment — BIREWEEE (F1:213)
property (note 13) 17,600,000 - - 17,600,000
Depreciation provided FRFTERE
during the year (757,143) (451,375) (82,887) (1,291,405)
At 31 December 2009, R-ZTNF
net of accumulated +=—RA=+—8"
depreciation kR 2EME 28,392,857 1,064,027 - 29,456,884
At 31 December 2009: RZZETNF
+-A=+—8
Cost (DN 30,350,000 2,808,821 331,547 33,490,368
Accumulated depreciation ZFEITE (1,957,143)  (1,744,794) (331,547)  (4,033,484)
Net carrying amount EEFE 28,392,857 1,064,027 - 29,456,884
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14. V¥ WENRE (&)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (continued)

An analysis of the lease terms of the Group's and the

AREBEARAZ L REFHB

Company’s land and buildings is as follows: AHTET
Group Company
A%E AR
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-ZF —EZTHhFE ZB-BF —TTNHF
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
B BT BT BT
At cost, located in: B - AL
Hong Kong, held under R BRTHROEE
a medium term lease 30,350,000 30,350,000 30,350,000 30,350,000
Mainland China, held under AR EIX 3 - JH EAFALY
a medium term lease b=y 96,203,827 86,400,959 - -
126,553,827 116,750,959 30,350,000 30,350,000

At 31 December 2010, the Group’s generation plant
and related structure was revalued at HK$210,557,730
(2009: HK$142,510,181) by BMI Appraisals Limited
on the open market value and existing use basis,
resulting in a revaluation surplus of HK$11,992,360
(2009: HK$5,978,354), of which a surplus of
HK$13,518,404 (2009: HK$4,971,243) was credited
to other comprehensive income whereas the remaining
deficit of HK$1,526,044 was charged (2009: surplus
of HK$1,007,111 was credited) to the consolidated
income statement. The income tax effect in respect of
the revaluation surplus/deficit of HK$3,028,122 (2009:
Nil) and HK$524,566 (2009: HK$144,065) were charged
to other comprehensive income and credited to the
consolidated income statement, respectively.

RZE—ZTF+=—ZA=+—8"
AEBBEHERE AR ELEH
BERTGHERARZRAAME
RBEBERGEEETENHER
210,557,730 T (Z & & 1 & -
142,510,181 7t) * At E £ &
B 511,992,360 L (2 F
fL 4 5,978,354 jT) 0 H B A
#:13,518,4048B L (Z T T L F :
4,971,243%8 7T) 5 A H M £ E K
= BTN Z 181,526,044 LE B
FEWEKRNR (ZTTNF : 5T A
BE#1,007,1M118T) - EEERBS
B 18 2 FT 15 % 52 £3,028,122/8 7T
(4§§h¢ ##) 524,566 T
— T T NF : 144,0658 ) E D
Al B E A2 E IR AR KAt AfRE
WK ©

l
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14.

15.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. Y1% - BMENRME (&)
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Had these generation plant and related structure been fii 5% 5 % TR K A B &% i A
carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation 2 PRCARR R RIRITE KOBE B 18
and impairment losses, their aggregate carrying BAR- AIEARE TE ® %ﬁ &R
amounts would have been HK$177,292,094 (2009: 177,292,094 T (Z T T N & :
HK$118,510,794). 118,510,794 1) °
As at 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s land and RZF-—FF+ZA=F+—H" K
buildings with aggregate net book value of approximately H ¥ B 48 58 £927,115,87278 7T (=
HK$27,115,872 (2009: HK$22,119,126) were pledged to TENF 22,119,126 L) Z K
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group SEETLHREFEBEM - (F
(note 30(a)(i). RAEE—RRTEEZ R (K2
30(a)(i)) °
(E xh
PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15. AR LHEERK
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$ HK$
ET BT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BZEAE 29,235,463 29,823,887
Exchange realignment & 5 B 1,049,795 140,107
Recognised during the year (note 6) FERNIER (H726) (736,905) (728,531)
Carrying amount at 31 December n+=—A=+—H
ZARHEE 29,548,353 29,235,463
Current portion included in prepayments, RENEkD @ £
deposits and other receivables BRFIE - BERk
H U AR KA (754,244) (728,531)
Non-current portion FERBEN 28,794,109 28,506,932

The leasehold lands are held under medium term leases
and are situated in Mainland China.

As at 31 December 2010, certain of the Group’s
leasehold lands with net book value of approximately
HK$28,147,050 (2009: HK$27,798,168) were pledged
to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 30(a)(ii)).

ZHEET IR REOF AL
R E A o

RZT—ZF+-_A=+—H &
EFE#28,147,050/87T (ZZETH
F :27,798,1688 ) 2 ANEEET
HETHEEER  FRAKE—
MIRITIEE 2R (BTEE30(a)i)) °
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GOODWILL 16. HE
Group
AEE
HK$
BT
Cost and net carrying amount at 1 January 2009, W-—ZZHhFE—H—H -
31 December 2009, 1 January 2010 and —EENF+_A=+—H"
31 December 2010 —FT-TF-H—HK
—E—ZFF+=-A=+—H
ZRRAR R AREHE 30,493,201

Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill arising from the acquisition of Zhejiang Sealand
has been allocated to the electric and steam power
supply cash-generating unit, one of the reporting
segments of the Group, for impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the electric and steam
power supply cash-generating unit has been determined
based on the value in use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
senior management covering a five-year period. The
discount rate applied to cash flow projections is 8%
(2009: 8%) and cash flows beyond the first five-year
period are extrapolated using a zero growth rate.

Key assumptions used in its cash flow projections
to undertake impairment testing of goodwill are as
follows:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine
the value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the
average gross margins achieved in the year immediately
before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to key assumptions are consistent
with external information sources.

BBz BERR

WSS E R Y EE R
EEHRRTRE S RS EEE
<B$%lﬁ¢—1ﬂﬁﬂ%>¢m
R -

BAIRKAHEBZREELEE T
ﬁ”&@%ﬁ%ﬁﬂ?ﬁﬁi\ﬁﬂﬂﬁ@*”
ZEABERE2REEA
ﬁ%%%ﬁiﬂﬂ%@ﬁ%a%%fimﬁ
WO RFHRYEEEMIE TR
AZ2IRER% (ZEZNEF:
8%) HBEBAFHMNECRERT
IR R HEHT

ETHERENR RS RERR
FERZ EERRANT

FEEFE -BREEMNR 2HET
REBFEFEA—FAERNTY
EMRFE  TREBEHRESRZ
Mg an o

P — BRI 2 TR R PR BEA
i B A BRI T AR -

PRSI AR < B EEINEE BB RR —
B o
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

17. EBRARIKRE

Company
VNN
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EETNF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Unlisted shares, at cost JE ETIRD - BN 7,990 7,998
Due from subsidiaries FEUL I B N B 708 645,083,635 701,329,876
Due to subsidiaries JEASTB /B A R 5108 - (43,131,904)
645,091,625 658,205,970
Impairment of amounts due from FEUL B B R Al 5RIE
subsidiaries ZRE (78,171,415) (78,171,415)
566,920,210 580,034,555

An impairment loss was recognised for amounts due
from subsidiaries with an aggregate carrying amount
of HK$312,080,397 (before deducting the impairment
loss) (2009: HK$262,805,000) because these subsidiaries
had been loss-making for some time. There was no
movement in the impairment of amounts due from
subsidiaries during the current year.

The balances with the subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and are not expected to be repaid within
one year. In the opinion of the directors, the amounts
due from the subsidiaries are considered as quasi-equity
loans to the subsidiaries.

Bt AR M 1B 42 58312,080,3977% T
(MBRREEBEEMN(ZZEZNEF:
262,805,000/ 7T) < FE W B A
AIRIE  EWRBERBE LA
RZEWNB AR DB EE B
[ o 7 6F I £ 11 f] 8 U BT /B8 8 Bk
B REEE -

H B AR Z ERRARESEEL
e RERBEBAR-FAEERE B
ERR BRMBRRFIAARS
B B R R B 2 TR R B K
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17. BRATRE (&)

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the end of

TEMBRRARRERRZFBN

the reporting period are as follows: NE
Nominal value
of issued and
Place of fully paid-up Percentage
incorporation/ ordinary/ of equity
registration registered attributable to Principal
Name and operations share capital the Company activities
SRR/ BRTR
i3 BREERE AR
a8 EES afRA 2 EE RAEZAD TEXH
Direct Indirect
HE &
Zhejiang Sealand** PRC/Mainland RMB70,000,000 - 56 Generation and
TN China 70,000,000TC AR # sale of electric
hE and steam power
FE A HEREEEN
CATIC Helicopter PRC/Mainland HK$42,000,000 - 100 Investment
Development (Shenzhen) China 42,000,000 7T holding
Limited (“CATIC Helicopter g / by gl
(Shenzhen)”)**# BE R,
PR E T R
(RYN) BRAF
([ ET#
(RY) ) *x¢
Billirich Investment Ltd. British Virgin US$1,000 100 - Investment
(“Billirich")* Islands/ 1,000%7 holding
Hong Kong REER
5B
RRES,/
BB
CATIC General Aviation British Virgin Us$2 100 - Investment
Holdings Limited? Islands/ 2ET holding
Hong Kong REZER
ZE
e ye
Eh
Wahman Investment British Virgin US$1 100 - Investment
Limited* Islands/ 1% holding
Hong Kong REER
HE
BRES/

BA
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17.

18.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 17. MEBRARRE (&)
(continued)
& Zhejiang Sealand is registered as a co-operative joint & BERERERBUEGIGZMAS
venture under the PRC law. Bz o
B CATIC Helicopter (Shenzhen) is registered as a wholly- i R E A ORI BiEHR
foreign-owned enterprise under the PRC law. AR INEREE -
# All the statutory financial statements of these f Fi A It S FY 8 2 R 895 FE B 7% 3R
subsidiaries were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong R FEHBTRBBHLKER 2
Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & Young S—KEEZ °
global network.
During the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group BHE_ZTZNF+_A=T—H1L
disposed of certain subsidiaries. Further details of these FE AEEHEETHBAA -
disposals are included in notes 35, 40(b)(ii) and 40(b)(iii) FEZELENE—THEBIHIR
to the financial statements. B 7% ¥R 5% B9 5£35 ~ 40(b)(ii) &240(b)
(iii) °
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company FRINHEERATEFEAFTE
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected XBEIERASBEEFELIED
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion MZARTMBRRT - EFRAM
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other Y EAMBARERBRMHITE -
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY- 18. HEZEEQFZRE
CONTROLLED ENTITY
Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$ HK$
ET BT
Share of net assets DEBEFE 1,000,741,857 35,350,343
Goodwill on acquisition WHEFTEAE 22 7,744,607 7,968,846
1,008,486,464 43,319,189
Loan to a jointly-controlled mL RN A
entity — current IR E K — BNEf 23,529,412 -
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INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY-
CONTROLLED ENTITY (continued)

The investment in a jointly-controlled entity represents
the Group’s right to enjoy certain economic benefits
derived from independent third parties’ 64.1% (2009:
69.4%) equity interest in CATIC Siwei Co., Ltd. (“CATIC
Siwei”). Such equity interest in CATIC Siwei was disposed
of by the Group in prior years pursuant to a series of
arrangements with the independent third parties at its
then carrying amount and no gain or loss had been
generated from the said disposal. Subsequent to such
disposal, the Group was no longer the shareholder of
CATIC Siwei. Pursuant to the other agreements, the
Group had acquired from such independent third parties
certain rights derived from the interest so disposed of
as mentioned.

In the opinion of the directors, notwithstanding that
the Group had the rights to enjoy certain economic
benefits from the equity interest in CATIC Siwei disposed
of by the Group, with the provisions in the articles and
association of CATIC Siwei, none of the shareholders of
CATIC Siwei has unilateral control over the economic
activity of CATIC Siwei. In view that the Group does not
have any power to control the financial and operating
activities of CATIC Siwei, the directors consider it is
appropriate to account for such rights as investment in
a jointly-controlled entity using the equity method of
accounting as at 31 December 2009 and 2010.

During the year, the Group disposed of its economic
right derived from a 5.3% equity interest in CATIC Siwei
to an independent third party at a consideration of
HK$58,510,000. A gain on partial disposal of investment
in a jointly-controlled entity of HK$54,996,388 was
recognised, being the excess of the consideration
of HK$58,510,000 over the carrying amount of the
5.3% equity interest amounting to HK$79,745,008
together with the transfer of the related available-
for-sale investment revaluation reserve amounting to
HK$76,231,396 from other comprehensive income to
the consolidated income statement.

The loan to a jointly-controlled entity included in the
Group's current assets amounting to HK$23,529,412
(2009: Nil) is unsecured, bears interest at 5.56% per
annum and is repayable within one year.

The above entity was not audited by Ernst & Young,
Hong Kong or another member firm of Ernst & Young
global network.

18.

ARZREAS2HR

HAEEAG 2 RERANEEA#
ZERBBYE=E 2 NHEMEE
AR AR ([0 4&ER]641%
ZTEENF:69.4%) RARE R
CETEBMNZS NBEERZZSE
BRAESZ T AAEBRBEFER
BEHZUBYE=EN—ERLH
NENEmMELES  BUYEEAT
MFEREE HEE  XEET
BRUOEERNOBRRE - REHEMH
FHoOAEERZEBIE=EEA
it E R A R R U S AE o

EEZRR BAAKEEANGE
RISk 0k Y Lt |
RENGEERARERRRT  HE
PO 4 38 R A PR PO A R 2 R
BREAETMIEHE  WAKREE
BEHMeERZMBEREERL
Ho-RAlt EZRREELZSHE
BEUEREERE YR _-FF
NEE-_FT—ZFF+_A=+—H
FAALREZERAR ZRE -

FR - AEER—BILF=FLE
HOA U0 A E RS 3% RE 2 R
Uy 5 # - X {8 A&58,510,000/% JT °
HEBHERIEEQRIKE 2B
54,996,388/ B L AA E R« b K
858,519,000/ JT B H15.3% i 1 2
R 1 {B79,745,0087 7T & & b &
mREERERARIRZHEEZ
Al SR B B (R 1#76,231,396
BT SH -

BREEAEERDHEEARNZFEFA
RN R A B 323,529,412
T (ZZEZTNF : &) BERKR - &
FRE556EFFERAN —FRNE
}\E o

AEERBHIFHRKBERLKE
BzAm—KBEZ -
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18.

INVESTMENT IN A JOINTLY-
CONTROLLED ENTITY (continued)

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

(A&

18. HEEZEEAAZKRE

TRINEAKE KR ZE QR Z M

information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entity: BERBE :
2010 2009
—E-FF —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FHETT FET
Share of the jointly-controlled entity’s DMEtEEZEEREZ
assets and liabilities: BEKBE:
Current assets mBEE 19,126 9,759
Non-current assets EMBEE 1,319,781 29,873
Current liabilities RENEE (18,656) (4,282)
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (319,509) =
Net assets BEFE 1,000,742 35,350
Share of the jointly-controlled Dih L EZEELRE
entity’s results: TEEAE
Revenue W25 12,998 5,086
Gross profit EF 2,477 3,027
Other income EH g A 5,586 3,262
8,063 6,289
Total expenses FELE (4,115) (5,803)
Tax ] (453) =
Profit after tax MR FR R F 3,495 486
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 19. BBE DT 2RE

Group Company
EE RAF
2010 2009 2010 2009
—g-8F -TINF -%-TE C"IINA
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Share of net assets DIEEEFE 124,925,739 86,288,938 - =
Goodwill on acquisition WERELE ZEBE 40,969,018 38,863,982 - =
165,894,757 125,152,920 - -
Loans to associates B2 A R R

— non-current ZER - R 76,186,572 44,888,794 31,048,000 -

242,081,329 170,041,714 31,048,000 -

Loans to associates ElitoNEIE 2
- current ER - n® 5,882,353 50,138,909 - 31,048,000
Market value of listed shares %5 2 m{E 187,078,200 146,678,400

During the year, the Group's ownership interest in its
principal associate has been diluted subsequent to the
issuance of new ordinary shares by this associate to other
shareholders. A gain on deemed disposal of an associate
of HK$1,600,123 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement in the current year.

The loan to an associate amounting to HK$45,138,572
(2009: HK$44,888,794) included in the Group’s non-
current loans to associates of HK$76,186,572 (2009:
HK$44,888,794) is unsecured, interest-free and is not
repayable within one year. The remaining loans to an
associate included in the Group’s and the Company’s
non-current assets amounting to HK$31,048,000 (2009:
Nil) are unsecured, bear interest at 3.65% per annum
and are not repayable within one year.

The loans to associates included in the Group’s and the
Company’s current assets amounting to HK$5,882,353
(2009: HK$50,138,909) and nil (2009: HK$31,048,000),
respectively, are unsecured, bear interest at 6% (2009:
3.65% to 7.47%) per annum and are repayable within
one year.

FR AEEREFBHLENRZ
BEREZCRZBHE AR MEMD
REBHTH L BREFEE - 317
A ERE QR Z2FE1,600,123%
TLERAFELRE WS RPRER o

A B & A B 42 it 2 B 345,138,572
BT (Z & F 1 4F : 44,888,794/
L) BREEASEREE QA EHE
2 JE B & 376,186,572 7t (—
T T N, 4F 44,888,794/ L) A ¢
BERE 2R NEBR—FRNE
B-SRTEEEAEBEARRE
MBEEAZABERARREZE
731,048,000/ 7L (= & T N, F -
) BIEER - IREF K3 65EFTE
MEER—FREE -

DR BREEAEERARD AR
BEAZHABEEARREZER
5,882,353 (= & & N &
50,138,909/ L) REXT (ZEZ
JLEF 31,048,000/ 7T ) AEMLIF
BERNEE (ZZEZNF : 3.65E
B747E) T ERBENR—FAERE -
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19.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

(continued)

Particulars of the principal associate are as follows:

19. BMERNTAZRE (&)

EEMERBZFHRBOT

Percentage
of ownership
Particulars Place of interest
of issued incorporation/ attributable
Name shares held registration to the Group Principal activities
rEE
FEBEERT ML BibEERE
£ R FHE = 3t 26 EzESLE EEEK
Sino Gas Ordinary shares Hong Kong 25.68  Operation of petroleum,
HRoR R of HK$0.2 each &% compressed natural

BF0.2B7T
LB

This is the associate of the Group which, in the opinion

of the directors, principally affected the results for the

year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other associates would,

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

gas and liquefied
petroleum gas
refuelling stations,
and trading of gas
related products
RERM - BRERARK
RAL A R ANE -
AR EBRRAREER

HREZRRIEFEAFEXR
R AEERMEEFEEIZANZ
ARABERNT - EERHMFT
HitpB 2 AR ER B ITR

TRINBAKEBZE QB ZHMBE

information of the Group's associates: BHEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF ZETNEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Assets BiE 1,077,144 948,130
Liabilities afE (326,841) (339,645)
Revenues Wz 964,820 623,062
Losses B8 (30,648) (13,985)




20.
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FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT
EC120

The balance represents the carrying value of the Group's
interest in 80% of the interest of AVIC International
Holding Corporation (“AVIC International”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company, in the net income in
relation to Project EC120 which was acquired from
AVIC International in 2002. Project EC120 is a jointly-
controlled operation established in October 1992 by
AVIC International in co-operation with Eurocopter S.A.
and Singapore Aerospace Ltd., both independent third
parties, to develop, manufacture and globally distribute
the multi-purpose EC120 helicopters.

AVIC International’s net income derived from Project
EC120 is limited to AVIC International’s share of income,
net of all expenses, to be derived from its interest in
Project EC120 in relation to (i) the sale and production
of parts and spares of helicopters and profits accrued to
AVIC International from the sale of helicopters globally;
(i) the recovery of non-recurring costs accrued to AVIC
International; (iii) commission income accrued to AVIC
International from the sale of helicopters by AVIC
International; and (iv) administrative income accrued
to AVIC International from the operations of Project
EC120.

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H

20. EC120iEH 2 (IS EE

HREASER_ZZ_FHRAEAR
Al F 2R AT E Mz R E
SRERBRAF ([PREEE]
FfiE 2EC1200R B a2 R IRAZ
80%#E & ~ # = Bk M E ° EC120
EER—BER-AAZF+AlEF
fif ¥ B R B2 98 32 % = FEEurocopter
S.A.KSingapore Aerospace Ltd.pk
N HREGEE ZERARER
thIEE AERE  HENZREKH
EC120855 2 Z AR E FH -

P IR R BEC120I B 2 /F K
A v BR A AR B B PR AEEC 12018 B
BHEFTEAZEMNATIER 2BA
CRFTERY)  (VHEREERF
BWEEMY - RPMEBEER S 2 IKHE
EEFH B EF (i E A M
REIFR E T 2 FERL TR 5 (iipt
fin B B BR H E B T 2 R i BB
FEET AR MA ¢ B(iv)H M5 BB 7
EC120I8 B & 2 JEFT B IEUA °
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20.

FINANCIAL ASSET UNDER PROJECT
EC120 (continued)

As the investment represents a contractual right to
receive cash in the future from another enterprise,
the investment has been classified as a non-current
available-for-sale financial asset and stated at cost less
any impairment losses. This investment was stated at
cost less impairment because the range of reasonable
fair value estimates was so significant that the directors
were of the opinion that its fair value could not be
measured reliably. The allowance for impairment has
been estimated using discounted cash flow analysis
which requires the directors to make estimates about
the expected future cash flows, which are discounted
at the current rate of 8% (2009: 8%).

During the year, having considered the future cash flows
and profit forecasts of Project EC120, the directors made
a full provision for impairment on the remaining value
of HK$3,459,462 (2009: HK$6,000,000) which was
recognised in the consolidated income statement in the
current year.

The cost less accumulated impairment losses of the
financial asset is analysed as follows:

20.

ECI20E B 2 I EE
(/"/é?
BHRZEKREEBRES —RIE%E
WHEIRE 2 & HEF - B ZEE
BEoEAERBDAIHEENTKEE
B 0 30 B 3% K A AE ] R E & 18 2]
BR o IR E AR AR ERESIE -
WTHEREEATF BT ZEE S
N BNEEREELUEFEER
FE- REBBEXRBITRIBE R
ENWEE THS% (Z T Z N
F :8%) MRELLEITIR - Z o
EXREFELEBEEHRRRBE LR
A

TR KEFRECI20BE 2 AKES
mEREMERNE  EZERFH
BEEL 2R E R #3,459,462/%5
7T (ZZEZT NS : 6,000,00087T) °
RERRERE MR IER o

BBEEZRARREAESRE
SIFMT -

Group
AEE
HK$
BT
Cost: A
At 1 January 2010 and 31 December 2010 RZZE—ZTF-—HA—HBRK
—E-ZEF+-A=+—H 39,759,462
Accumulated impairment: ZIERE ¢
At 1 January 2010 R—ZE—ZFF—HF—H 36,300,000
Impairment during the year FRRE 3,459,462
At 31 December 2010 R-_EBE—ZFF+_-_F=+—H 39,759,462
Carrying amount: AREE :
At 31 December 2010 R-EB-ZBF+=ZA=+—H -
At 31 December 2009 R-_EZANF+-_A=+—H 3,459,462
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21. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE 21. AIMEHENKRE
INVESTMENTS
Group Company
X&EE NG|
2010 2009 2010 2009
—Z-EF —ETNE —E-Zf —ETNE
HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Non-current: ERE :
Listed investment in R EIAME) ERRE
Mainland China, RRTE (M)
at fair value (note (a)) 1,872,380,546 - - -
Unlisted investment, EEMERE - BEA
at cost (note (a)) (Hiit(a) - 33,230,744 - -
Unlisted investments, FLTRE  BATE
at fair value:
Sino Gas Bond (note (b)) omReES (K b)) - 25,200,663 - -
Club debentures SRS 4,929,712 4,853,027 2,680,300 2,680,300
1,877,310,258 63,284,434 2,680,300 2,680,300
Current: e :
Unlisted investments, FLETRE  RATE:
at fair value:
Sino Gas Bond (note (b)) R ES (M) 29,033,802 - - -
Notes: HieE -

As at 31 December 2009, this investment was an
investment in unlisted equity securities which was
designated as an available-for-sale investment and had
no fixed maturity date or coupon rate. This investment
was stated at cost less impairment because the range
of reasonable fair value estimates was so significant
that the directors were of the opinion that its fair value
could not be measured reliably.

During the year, upon the successful listing of the equity
securities in Shenzhen stock exchange, the directors are
in the opinion that the fair value of the listed equity
securities can be measured reliably based on the quoted
market price and therefore this investment was stated
at fair value as at 31 December 2010. A fair value gain
of HK$1,839,066,677 in respect of this investment
was recognised as other comprehensive income during
the year.

RZZTZNF+=_A=+—8"
ZIEEDEEAAIHEENIRE
REETEIHAKZEmE R I
ETRABHZE - ZIRE K
NREREINE REREEA
FEGGFZEEAKN  EERA
AN St EATE -

FA - HERAFHFNRIIFES

R LT - EFERABAIR
TS MERAFEAZE LR
RFHZRAFE A R=ZF
—ZE+-A=+—0 " Z&E&
BRATFESNE ZREZ2ATE
71 71,839,066,6777% 7L A F A

RAHA 2 EE
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21.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)

On 3 March 2009, Billirich entered into an agreement
with Sino Gas to purchase convertible bonds (the
“Convertible Bond"”) issued by Sino Gas with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$27,500,000. The
Convertible Bond bears interest at 2% per annum,
is convertible into ordinary shares of Sino Gas at
HK$0.2 per share (subject to adjustment upon the
change in capital structure of Sino Gas) and will mature
in two years from the date of the issuance of the
Convertible Bond. Assuming a full conversion is made
by Billirich, the Convertible Bond can be converted into
137,500,000 ordinary shares of Sino Gas.

The Convertible Bond is a hybrid instrument that
includes a non-derivative host contract and an
embedded derivative. The non-derivative host contract,
representing the bond component (the “Sino Gas
Bond”), has been designated as an available-for-sale
investment. The embedded derivative, being a derivative
financial instrument (the “Embedded Derivative Asset”),
represents the conversion option which allows Billirich
to convert the Convertible Bond into ordinary shares of
Sino Gas at an established conversion rate (i.e., HK$0.2
per share) before the maturity date of the Convertible
Bond.

As at 31 December 2010, the fair value of the Sino
Gas Bond was stated at HK$29,033,802 (2009:
HK$25,200,663) based on valuation performed by
independent professionally qualified valuers and a fair
value gain of HK$3,833,139 (2009: HK$10,128,788) in
respect of the Sino Gas Bond was recognised as other
comprehensive income during the year.

AHEHENRE (&)

#iet - (&)

(b)

R=FZA%F=A=A  Billirich
B REERT S g UEA
BARZEETZERNSER
27,500,000/% 7T 2 A # % (& %
(AT E D) - TR ES
REFE2%:T B+ FILAERRO.2
7S TC (5 B & R R AL 2 R AN 28
EEEm T IAFE) LAl R &
FEn SR IR2eE 2 TRK - 1§
RETABRRESE B LM
F B H o &R EBillirichE 72 ™
iR RREST TERA
137,500,0000% /i R 8 2 L i@
B o

MR ESFSEEFITETRE
BHEBRARTETAZEAT
B ENTETEZAHRKES
Mo (TmRREESR]) - BRIE
ERAHEENRE - RART
ATANTESMTA (RAR
PTEBE] - KRAFBIllirichi®
AR S 2 B B AT R B E 8
BB (B A%0.278 7T) # Al R
BFERATRREZ EBRZ
B -

RZZE—ZF+=-A=+—8H"
$E%FH&§%1§¥A§$%1EEEW3E

T2EE  REREEEZAT
E /429,033,802 0 (ZZEZT N
£ 125,200,663 7T) + Al R
B 1E % < 1~ F (A 7 B3,833,139
BT (ZETNF 10,128,788
B) ERFARRAEMEE
IZS o
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22.
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AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS (continued)

During the year, the gross gain in respect of the Group’s
available-for-sale investments recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to HK$1,842,899,816
(2009: HK$10,363,981). During the prior year, gross
gain of HK$1,313,605 was transferred from other
comprehensive income to the consolidated income
statement as a result of disposal of investments in the
prior year. The income tax effect in respect of the gross
gain amounting to HK$459,766,669 (2009: Nil) was
charged to other comprehensive income during the
year.

The fair values of certain of the unlisted available-for-
sale investments have been estimated using valuation
technigues based on assumptions that are supported by
observable market price or rates. The valuation requires
the directors to make estimates about the expected
future cash flows including expected future dividends,
risk-free rate and the credit spread of the underlying
share. The directors believe that the estimated fair
values resulting from the valuation technique, which
are recorded in the consolidated statement of financial
position, and the related changes in fair value, which are
recorded in other comprehensive income, are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the
end of the reporting period.

21.

AHHENRE (&)

FA- REME2AKNEERZAE
EAfMHENKREZNREER
1,842,899,8168 L (ZEZ N F :
10,363,981 7L) c BAEFE - BN
HETRE EHEMEZEKEHE
%7 FH4E%EE1,313,6058 T EBE
FEGARZER - M BBBENME
i 5 2£459,766,6697%8 7T (—ZTZT N,
F @) ERFREEMES AR
k& -

ETHLMAHREENREZAF
BT A G ERMREERER G G
Ko MZEBRDARNEETISE
REBREXR - ZEEAESRY
EHRARKRESRE  BREEHRK
BE - BEERANEREBROES
EZREFELMEE - EFHEE A&
HERGABENEG S BRRER
ARkt A FERREMER
WLk HER ‘?HE'*:@JTJ%
BE BRARBEPRRZREERE
& o

INVENTORIES 22. 78
Group
AEME
2010 2009
—E-=F —EZNF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Raw materials B 21,872,515 13,945,119

At 31 December 2010, no inventories were pledged as
security for the Group’s bank borrowings (2009: Nil).

R=Z—FF+-A=+-0 ¥
mEAERAREERTERER
" (CFBAF ) -
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23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

3. EREZRAREE

Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
HK$ HKS$
BT BT
Trade and bills receivables JEWE SRR R EE 41,943,340 33,890,815
Impairment E (1,574,985) (1,402,660)
40,368,355 32,488,155

The Group’s trade receivables mainly represent the
receivables from the sale of electric and steam power.
The Group’s trading terms with these customers are
mainly on credit, except for new customers, where
payment in advance is normally required. The credit
period is generally 60 days, extending up to 90 days
for major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit
risk. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEBZERBEZERETEEHE
BAREAZEERE AEE R
RUEBFPZEERREIEZRKREK -
HEFEPERIN GhEP —RFBELREA
5 - EEH—RAB60K - HRE
EXFPRZILEHIOR - BUEFH
REBZKREERE - AEBBKY
RBEZEUERFEFBEREE
YHE-—EEEEHM EEEA
REHE - EESEEHRTE
Higth - ENA LA RAEEZ
BB ZERTIREREDHZE
FHEE AUHIBEENEFEST
R - BUE 5 RS EEAENE -




23.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 23.
(continued)

Notes to Financial Statements 81 %3 3R M 5%

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H

FREZERERRRE

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at

the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice

——d
(&

RBEHR BUEZERRER
BREZEHRINGREZREDT

date and net of provisions, is as follows: R

Group

rEE
2010 2009
—g-%% —EThE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Current BNER 31,694,650 26,910,416
31 to 60 days 31260H 5,486,744 3,619,402
61 to 90 days 61%290H 1,048,436 745,850
Over 90 days 90H M E 2,138,525 1,212,487
40,368,355 32,488,155

The movements in the provision for impairment of the

FENER 5 R B R R 2 AR

trade and bills receivables are as follows: T -

Group

KEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
At 1 January w—H—H 1,402,660 970,303
Impairment losses recognised (note 6) EEEETER (A:F6) 156,202 427,947
Exchange realignment ME 5, e B 16,123 4,410
At 31 December R+=-A=+—8 1,574,985 1,402,660
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23.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Included in the above provision for impairment of
trade and bills receivables is a provision for individually
impaired trade and bills receivables of HK$1,574,985
(2009: HK$1,402,660) with aggregate carrying amount
before provision of HK$1,574,985 (2009: HK$1,402,660).
The individually impaired trade and bills receivables
relate to customers that were in financial difficulties
and the receivables are not expected to be recovered.
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over these balances.

The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that
are not considered to be impaired is as follows:

23.

FREZERRKRRE

==
(===}
(/'-E\

FFALMEWNE SRR EERZR
BRERLERENREZERES
R R E I 2 #151,574,9857%8 T
—ZETALE ¢ 1,402,660/87T) 0 B
BRIBRE &8 A1,574,985%8 ¢ (=
T T N : 1,402,660/ 7T) ° f@ 7l
BEZEKRESERRZIEEA@EER
MR E 2 B P AR R ZERER
TIEEAR] FULE o A& B I RN &
ey FRAEAERSEAMmE
BiRF -

ABRERBEZRKE SRR LR
BZREDHMT

Group

rEH
2010 2009
—EB-EF ZZETNF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Neither past due nor impaired R H MR E 37,181,394 30,529,818
Less than 1 month past due B HR DR —1E A 1,048,436 745,850
1 to 3 months past due A —==1EA 2,138,525 1,212,487
40,368,355 32,488,155

Receivables that are neither past due nor impaired relate
to a large number of diversified customers for which
there is no recent history of default.

RBHTRREZ BEERER S
ZEEFPER  ZBEFPESRE
BRESL -
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24.
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TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES
(continued)

Receivables that are past due but not impaired relate to
a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
the directors of the Company are of the opinion that no
provision for impairment is necessary in respect of these
balances as there has not been a significant change in
credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral or
other credit enhancements over these balances.

LOAN TO A RELATED COMPANY

The loan to a related company represents a loan to
Peace Map Co., Ltd., an associate of a jointly-controlled
entity of the Group, which is unsecured, bears interest at
5.31% per annum and is repayable within one year.

Particulars of the amount due from a related company
disclosed pursuant to Section 161B of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance are as follows:

23.

24.

FEREZERERRERE

——
(#&

E 78 HA M 1) RO 2 B M BR SR ER R
ZHRAEERARIIPEBELEE
YEFPEM - REBELR A2
AESRAR MEAZLERIE
HEFRRERE HEEEEHE
EREHRERBDRESA 2
Yol o REEBAI RN ZEEHRZ £
FAEAEAREMBEER -

FIEE D RRHENER
WA ARG E KR AR
ARZEATZBERTNLTRT
BB A IR A ARG 2 B
LEFEER  RFHESIE
BRER—FREE -

BREEBRBIEIE161BEREZ
FEUWBEE A RIFIRFE BRI T

Maximum
amount
outstanding

31 December during 1 January
2010 the year 2010
—g-%F TRRSE  —FEF
+=HA=+—H REEEH —A—H
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
Peace Map Co., Ltd. ERKR T B EH&
Es RS EYNE] 17,647,059 17,647,059 -
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25.

26.

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 25. FAINIE > BERHME
OTHER RECEIVABLES W BR X
Group Company
rEE P NG
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-Z2F CZTTNF ZE-TF ZZTTNF
HK$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Prepayments R0 13,404,151 16,185,904 847,035 890,759
Deposits and other BE REAMEKERR
receivables 36,613,013 65,559,363 1,185,529 2,774,816

50,017,164

81,745,267 2,032,564 3,665,575

None of the above assets is either past due or impaired.
The financial assets included in the above balances
relate to receivables for which there is no recent history
of default.

bt EESE T AP SRE - 5
ALitiEs 2z BB EERERITE
HWE AR ERE -

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 26. TTE€®MIT A
INSTRUMENT
Group
rEH
2010 2009
—E-EF ZZETNF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Asset: EE
Embedded Derivative Asset mARDTEEE 17,875,291 23,794,178

The Group's derivative financial instrument is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis. Any
fair value gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

AEEZTESBRTANEAYE
EEEE  EXRBTFRQIAFEREE
AHE - EAAFEMNBRERGR
FEWERATER -




26.

Notes to Financial Statements 81 & 3R 3k M &
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENT (continued)

The Embedded Derivative Asset represents the derivative
embedded in the Convertible Bond as detailed in note
21(b) to the financial statements. As at 31 December
2010, the fair value of the Embedded Derivative Asset
was stated at HK$17,875,291 (2009: HK$23,794,178)
based on valuation performed by independent
professionally qualified valuers and a fair value loss of
HK$5,918,887 (2009: gain of HK$11,366,053) in respect
of the Embedded Derivative Asset was recognised in the
consolidated income statement during the year.

The fair value of derivative financial instrument has
been estimated using valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation requires the directors to
make estimates, including expected cash flows and
volatility of the underlying securities. The directors
believe that the estimated fair value resulting from
the valuation technique, which is recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related change in fair value, which is recorded in the
consolidated income statement, are reasonable, and that
they are the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

26.

PTESBMITA ()

RARPTEBEER R AR RRE
FZUTHETIE  FBEHRIB®RE
fisE21(b)c R=ZZFE—FF += A
=t+—B  BRAXTEEEZATF
BIRBVEESERIGEMATIER
B17,87529B T (ZEZE N F:
23,794,178 7T) FIER - MEATTA
APTEEE 2 A F(EEE5,918,887
B (ZZEZNAF : FE11,366,053
BIT) ERERE SR ER o

TEEMTAZAFEDFAMGE
RMRBEREGE LK MZFR
RABABEMSERKE RIEX
o MEAERFELMGE  BER
HBREERENREREES ZKE - &
EREEABRERNBHMERS
IR R AR 2t A E - BA
REHFEWRERARZBELQFE
EPEBRIE  WABREMRZK
BIEEE -
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27. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AND PLEDGED DEPOSITS

—g-%%

27. BekBsFERACER

(N
Company
PN
2009 2010 2009
—ZTNFE ZB-BF _"ITTNF
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT

Time deposits EHFR 230,355,381

Less: Pledged short term time )& : B2 X8 B e 77 3%

deposits (note 30(a)ii) (B1:30(a) i) (34,444,706)

264,282,660 37,018,638 42,002,754

(45,051,137) - =

195,910,675 219,231,523 37,018,638 42,002,754

Cash and bank balances B RIBITET 144,092,260

111,247,128 38,939,851 52,064,827

Cash and cash equivalents BE&RR&%

340,002,935 330,478,651 75,958,489 94,067,581

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and
bank balances and the time deposits of the Group
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to
HK$108,775,860 (2009: HK$103,445,501). The RMB
is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies
through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange
business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for varying periods of between one day and three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short
term time deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default.

RIEBRR - AEEAARE (TA
R¥E]) sHEZR S RIBITTETFRE
Hi 7F 3 /&108,775,860%8 T (= &
TN F 103,445,501 70) - AR
BRI ERERAREMER AW
B35 B A b 2 SN B 22 R B R A
E - EERNEEERE A&
A BEREEITING K 2 IR1T
HAREHBRBEME -

RITFRREBRTERNERGFTE
BFEFERGE - BT AEE A
RASFL FENF—BE=E
AETRMENERERFR - &L
REBEHERERMEGR - R
TREREERRTERGERR
EIREREL BEBEEZRIT




28.

29.

Notes to Financial Statements B %% 5 3 M 5=
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TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at
the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice

date, is as follows:

28. ENEZRIAREE

RBEEHKR BNESZERRER
REZBHZBRESITOT -

Group

rEH
2010 2009
—E-2F —TTNEF
HK$ HK$
B BT
Current BN EA 75,145,832 108,026,419
31 to 60 days 31&260H 219,359 2,907,509
61 to 90 days 61%290H - 80,673
Over 90 days 90E A F 10,828 1,683,575

75,376,019 112,698,176

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are

normally settled on 90-day terms.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an

average term of three months.

29.

ZERNE SRR TR R —R
%90 H HIRIFIE -

HitENRERETER

HibENFKETS A B R FEHR
R=MEA -
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30.

e /= ==
INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. FFEMRITER
BORROWINGS
Group
AEE
2010 2009
—g-g% —TENE
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity HKS$ rate (%) Maturity HK$
ERFIE(%) FEA BT BREFIE(%) pillag= BT
Bank loans - secured  R{TER - HEA 5.31-5.84 2011 55,882,353  5.57-5.84 2010 28,409,091
Notes: Hiat -
(a) As at 31 December 2010, the Group's banking facilities (a) RZE—ZEF+-_A=+—8"
were secured by: AEBZRITEEATYESIEE
RER -

(i) pledges of certain of the Group’s land and 0) KR AE BRI FEARE
buildings with an aggregate net book value #)7/527,115,8728 7L (=
of approximately HK$27,115,872 (2009: T T R F 22,119,126
HK$22,119,126) (note 14); BIT) 2B T LM RIEF

(Htet14)

(ii) pledges of certain of the Group's leasehold (ii) AL BREFERSE
land with an aggregate net book value of %) /28,147,050%8 7T (=
approximately HK$28,147,050 (2009: =T N 27,798,168
HK$27,798,168) (note 15); and EIL) & L (ff

15) i &

(iii) pledges of certain of the Group’s short term (iii) ' H AN EEHB H
time deposits amounting to HK$34,444,706 34,444,706 (ZFF
(2009: HK$45,051,137) (note 27). L4 : 45,051,137 J©)

Z2HETREERTR (K
7227) e

As at 31 December 2010, the Group's short term bank RZE—ZF+-_A=+—

loans of RMB20,000,000 (equivalent to approximately B AEBEZ2REBPERITEXK

HK$23,529,412) (2009: RMB4,000,000 (equivalent to 20,000,0007T A R ¥ (FHER 4

approximately HK$4,545,455)) were guaranteed by an 23,529,412 7m) (ZE T h4F ¢

independent third party. 4,000,0007T A R ¥ (18 & R 4

4,545,455% L)) B E=F&
REER o
(b) All bank borrowings are denominated in RMB. (b) FIERITEENAARBEHR -
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DEFERRED TAX
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31.

The movements in the Group’s deferred tax liabilities

during the year are as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

EEHBARE

Group
R EE

IR E R 1E

A 4 R FE BB & 506 Py 2 8

wr

Revaluation Revaluation of

of property, an available-
plant and for-sale  Withholding
equipment investment taxes Total
Bty B
BEARE HERE EHH CE
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2009 R_ZZNF—A—H 6,798,056 - - 6,798,056
Deferred tax credited to FRFARBRZEL
the income statement BB (#izE10)
during the year (note 10) (144,065) - - (144,065)
Gross deferred tax liabilities R -ZEAE+-A=+—H
at 31 December 2009 RZT-T5-H—-H
and 1 January 2010 ZERHIAARESR 6,653,991 - - 6,653,991
Deferred tax charged/ ERME/GIA) hamx
(credited) to the income ZERHIA (f5#10)
statement during
the year (note 10) (524,566) - 2,700,000 2,175,434
Deferred tax charged to FRREMEZEKENR
other comprehensive EETR
income during the year 3,028,122 459,766,669 - 462,794,791
Gross deferred tax liabilities R=Z-Sf+-H=1+—H
at 31 December 2010 ZEEHBEE 9,157,547 459,766,669 2,700,000 471,624,216
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31.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At 31 December 2010, the Group had aggregate tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$15,456,000
(2009: HK$15,456,000) that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not
been recognised in respect of these losses as they have
arisen in the companies that has been loss-making for
some time and it is not considered probable that taxable
profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

Pursuant to the New Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement has
become effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to
earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding
tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in
Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2010, no deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject
to withholding taxes of the Group’s jointly-controlled
entity and associates established in Mainland China. In
the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
jointly-controlled entity and associates will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate
amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in jointly-controlled entity and associates in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totalled approximately HK$5,540,000 at
31 December 2010 (2009: HK$2,220,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

31.

EREBIE (&

RZZE-—ZEF+_HA=+—H K
EEEEAEECABMEBSED
#%15,456,0008 T (Z T FT N & :
15,456,000 7T) + A] FA /EHK 84 (3R
EEATZRRERTRF o BR
ZEEBBERERKHALABEZA
A MEWARE MR ERT &
FIA B AT IE B 1R - Bt I M e
RIEERIAE E ©

BB EEMBRE  EHRBEKL
ZHNERERMIBEREESTRZR
BABWI0%EINH - ZHER
—ETNF—A—BEK - BAR
ZEELEF+ A=+ —HEBEZK
7 o R B EANBIIR K E 2 Rl A
EFTAEMBBE  HAIRAREZ
BIHE - HAEEME - BAM
EE10% - AEERMBAE+TEH
RZZzHBARRE ST /\F—
A—RARBREAZWEATDIKZE
AETENR -

R-_E—ZTF+-_A=+—H ¥
45 7K &= B 7E AR B A K A2 2 ]
PEREA A B A A2 R EE IR E
ARz ENBRRELERE - &
ERA AEHFAEEATREE
RAITEEA R GRS IKZEW
moRZE—ZEFF+ZA=+—
B ®ARBAFE Az HEFZE
ERRERBERARZRERER

BELERBABZEEEZHAEY
#%5,540,000% 7T (= & T 1L & :
2,220,000/ 7T) °

R A [) AR BRI 3% e B R B A AE
A SHEKRR -
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33.
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SHARE CAPITAL 32. B&
Company
b /N
2010 2009
—E-2F ZETNEF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Authorised: VERE ¢
10,000,000,000 ordinary shares 10,000,000,0000% &A%

of HK$0.10 each EfE0.10/8 L 2 Tl 1,000,000,000 1,000,000,000

Issued and fully paid: BEETRER
4,754,397,000 ordinary shares

of HK$0.10 each

4,754,397,0000% & i%
E{EO.10/8 T 2 TmAX

475,439,700 475,439,700

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting held on 13 May 2003, the
Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the
Group'’s operations. Since the adoption of the Scheme,
no options have been granted thereunder.

Major terms of the Scheme include:

1. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives
to the participants.

2. The participants of the Scheme are individuals
being employees, officers or consultants of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries including any
executive or non-executive directors thereof.

33.

BRETE
E-_TT=FRA+=RABTZR
RBEXREGL ARARMH—ER
Bergat &l ([%at8l)) B EB R
RREA/AKEXBZRNELER
ZEERBEE - BERANZKETEIA
K EARR X AT 8 B A ARE K
1 -

ATl EBIRRBHE

1. ZEfElgERm2EERHE
B o

2. ZArBZB2EERBARFH
HEMMBARZEE &
RBMEEM @A A
BREEMPNITIFNTES -
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

3.

The total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the Scheme must not exceed 10% of the share
capital of the Company in issue as at the date
of approval of the Scheme. The Company may
refresh this 10% limit at any time subject to
prior approval by its shareholders in a general
meeting. The overall limit on the total number
of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme must not exceed 30% of the
issued share capital of the Company at any time.
No options may be granted if this will result in
such limit being exceeded.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options (whether exercised,
cancelled or outstanding) granted under the
Scheme in any 12-month period immediately
preceding any proposed date of grant of option
to each participant must not exceed 1% of the
share capital of the Company in issue as at the
proposed grant date.

Options may be exercised at any time during
a period of 10 years commencing on the date
falling three to six months after the date of
grant.

A grant of an option must be accepted within
28 days from the date of grant together with a
non-refundable payment of HK$1.00.

33. BRESE (&)

3.

EHITERBEZTE K2
BREmMET ZRMDEE
TERBNZTEBBEER
RABEZETRA 210% °
N R A BE R BT 5% 10% &
PR MAERIENBREARNS
EEafE - BT EREZ
TEIFTIR 2SR ITEIE AR
BmBEITZRMDBEERE L
R TEBBEWEEARD
AIEBITIRA 230% ° %
HERESENBREEHA L
R - BT B ARAE o

EEMRBEROBEREZEAS
A+ — (@ A HEE T EARE
HEIFTR R AE (TwiE
17 ~ B ARTTEE) M
A&SEERTREETZ
Bipiag  TREBARE
REZRHBEHZEHTR
1%

BEREAINREAHE=2
7B A A+ FARER TR -

R AN L A Bi1&28H
NN WA TR RE
FRIE1.0078 7T °
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

7,

The exercise price of an option to subscribe for

shares granted pursuant to the Scheme shall be
the highest of:

(a)

the closing price of the shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheet on the date of grant, which must be
a business day;

the average of the closing prices of the
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and

the nominal value of the shares of the
Company.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a

period of 10 years commencing on 13 May 2003

and thereafter for as long as there are outstanding

options granted and accepted pursuant thereto

prior to the expiration of the said 10-year period

and in order to give effect to the exercise of any

such options.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to

dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

At the end of the reporting period and at the date of

approval of these financial statements, there were no

share options outstanding.

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H

33. BRESE (&)

7. REZEASAELAIHAR
B BREZITEERR
TIZ&S

() BHEXRLAH (AR
BEH) BERBRAA
FHRERZKHE

by BOERLBHNE
EaXBRBME
B#HRERZFHET
B R

(0 ARBERMHEE -

8. ZEtE M —TT=FA A+
ZHEFRTFARBHR AR
bt +FHERA S RH R
B W ARTTE BRI A
17fE -

BERBYEETREAZTERES
RERAE ERFZHER -

RIBERRRAY BRI ELEE
B WEEARTTREZ BAE -
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34. RESERVES
(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the
movements therein for the current and prior
years are presented in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 42 to 45 of this
annual report.

Pursuant to the articles of association of a
subsidiary operating as a co-operative joint
venture in Mainland China and the relevant
PRC Company Law, the subsidiary shall make an
allocation from its profit after tax at the rate of
10% to the statutory surplus reserve fund, until
such reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital
of the subsidiary. Part of the statutory surplus
reserve may be capitalised as the subsidiary’s
registered capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than
25% of the registered capital of the subsidiary.
The statutory reserve is non-distributable other
than in the event of liquidation.

34. f#1E
(a)

AKE

AEEAFEERBEFEY
BEERRERDRAAF
BEQESHSEL RO
HRBER -

REBE—FZNBPEKREAEE
CEIALEZHBRARZ
RAERENABTERBDA
Bl - %P B B A A EBR A
BEMZ10%EERE RIS
T BEERBREHEEZZM
JB R R EEME AR 250% ° 28
MAEAEREEARRTERR
MEARRAN  EREEAR
LR 28T R DM
BRAFEMEARZ225% ° B
BRI EEREETED
i °
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34. RESERVES (continued) 34. f#HE (&)
(b) Company (b) ZAXATH
Share
premium  Contributed Retained
account surplus profits Total
R EER BB ey &t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
At 1 January 2009 RZZEZNF—A—H 193,970,166 5,243,300 75,782,969 274,996,435
Total comprehensive FAEHEKEBE
income for the year - - (11,148,218)  (11,148,218)
At 31 December 2009 and R=ZTH4E
1 January 2010 +-A=+—-HRk
—2-TF—-H—H 193,970,166 5,243,300 64,634,751 263,848,217
Total comprehensive FAZAEKGEE
income for the year - - (34,472,202)  (34,472,202)
At 31 December 2010 R-Z-ZF
+=ZA=+-H 193,970,166 5,243,300 30,162,549 229,376,015

The contributed surplus of the Company
represents the excess of the consolidated net
asset value of Far East Aluminium (B.V.l.) Limited
on 20 November 1991, when its entire issued
share capital was acquired by the Company
pursuant to a group reorganisation, over the
nominal amount of the Company’s shares issued
in consideration for such acquisition, net of
accumulated losses of the Company set off in the
prior years. Under the Bermuda Companies Act
of 1981 (as amended), the contributed surplus
of the Company is distributable to shareholders
under certain circumstances.

The Company’s share premium account of
HK$193,970,166 (2009: HK$193,970,166) as
at 31 December 2010 may be distributed in the
form of fully paid bonus shares.

KRR ZEABERFBARR A
BEREEBEHALTHER — I
nN—F+—A=+THEA
Far East Aluminium (B.V.l.)
Limited® 80 B 81T R AR K
Far East Aluminium (B.V.l.)
LimitedZ 5 & & & /F B B8
RRRMERWIB R E M T
ZEROhEEZE  WEHN
BRRBEFEHREZARAR
2itEBE - REBEARERQF
E—NAN— (BETR) AR
AZBABBRESTHERLT
Al R T & ARER o

ARAR-F—FF+=
A=Z+—BzRHEER
193,970,166/ L (ZZTF 1L
4 : 193,970,166/ 7T) A LA
BRARTADIK °

l
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

35. HEMHBEQE

2009
—ETNEF
HK$
BT
Net assets disposed of: BHECEESE:
Property under development BRERYE 8,803,177
Available-for-sale investments AfHENRE 4,169,328
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERFRIE - e RHE M EIKRFIE 8,039,909
Cash and bank balances e RIRITRETF 954,115
Other payables and accruals H i A< 5B K B R B F (10,714,477)
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders FEAS FEVERAR AR 3R 5K IE (7,034,976)
Non-controlling interests FEE R RS 33,003
4,250,079
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries & BB A F] 2 )R 1,205,027
5,455,106
Satisfied by: YRR
Cash e 5,455,106

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

HEMBRARZRERREEFER

in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is as follows: NEEDTAT
2009
—ZTTNEF
HK$
BT
Cash consideration & KRE 5,455,106
Cash and bank balances disposed of BHE2H e RIRITER (954,115)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEMRBATRIZIRE R
respect of the disposal of subsidiaries BeEERAFRE 4,500,991
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36. mMEBRERERMT

36. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

37.

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2009,
the Group's purchase of Convertible Bond of
HK$27,500,000 was partly settled by the proceeds
from redemption of the old convertible bonds of
HK$15,600,000.

Restricted cash and cash equivalent balances

Certain of the Group’s time deposits are pledged
to banks to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group, as further explained in note 30(a)(iii)
to the financial statements.

Certain of the Group's cash and cash equivalent
balances are not freely convertible into Hong
Kong dollars (note 27).

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

As lessee

The Group and the Company leases its office premises

under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements

with terms of one year.

At 31 December 2010, the Group and the Company
had total future minimum lease payments under non-

cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

37.

(a)

(b)

re

BEAKRERS
REBEEZZTZTNFT_A=
+—BLEFE AEEEESE
A] # f% f& % 227,500,000/
TEHHBERES A RRE
% FfT 13 3% 7815,600,0007% 7T
P ey o

BERFARERBECEEHER

AEBZETERFREE
WTRIT UWERAEEE
BRZBRITEE £ FPRE
OB IS IRAR M FE30(a)(iii) ©

AEFBZETRERESLS
BEEHTA BHLBRE T
(B13£27) »

GERNE?

EREBA
AREBEARAEEEFTZA AR

n=

Mazsr  HERH—F -

T-ZF+-A=+—H0 R

BT AT FERE 2 T HEE
BHKN AERERAABRFARRK
MAORERNHSAEIHIINT

Group and Company

AEERAEDF
2010 2009
—EB-=F —ETNEF
HK$ HK$
ET BT
Within one year —FR 488,400 453,600
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38. COMMITMENTS

In addition to the operating lease commitments in note
37 above, the Group had the following commitments at
the end of the reporting period:

38.

g
I b S 37,2 48 R A0 AR S -
R B R A A T AR

Group
rEE
2010 2009
—E-FF ZETNF
HKS$ HK$
BT BT
Contracted, but not provided for: B &T#){8 R4 -
Acquisition of plant and WEE R = K 128
machinery 2,976,207 16,749,443
Establishment of a joint BRI & & AT (Ha2)
venture (note) 47,058,824 45,454,545
50,035,031 62,203,988

Note:

On 4 January 2006, Sino-Aviation Investments Limited (”Sino-
Aviation Investments”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a joint venture agreement (the "JV
Agreement”) with AVIC International, a substantial shareholder
of the Company, and Chengdu Aircraft Industry (Group)
Corporation Ltd. (“Chengdu Aircraft”), for the establishment
of a joint venture to engage in the research and development,
design and manufacture of parts and components for
commercial aircrafts, and provision of related technical services.
According to the JV Agreement, the total registered capital
of the joint venture will be RMB100 million (equivalent to
approximately HK$118 million), of which 40%, 15% and 45%
respectively, will be contributed by Sino-Aviation Investments,
AVIC International and Chengdu Aircraft. The JV Agreement is
conditional upon (i) the internal approval obtained by each of
the three parties; and (ii) the approval from the relevant PRC
authorities. As at 31 December 2010, the JV Agreement has
not become effective as the conditions stated above have not
been fulfilled.

RZZEZERF-—ANAB: AREIZE
& Mt B A FlSino-Aviation Investments
Limited ([ Sino-Aviation Investments])
RN A 2 3 E AR R A B BR K K AR AR
BIX(SE) EREEAA (KA
#]) I EE = (A& mE]) - UK
Y—REERA EEEARETEH
2R BETREE - U RREEEER
TR - RIESEHE a2 ARZE
it & A% A100,000,0007T A R # (47
% 1 #9118,000,000% JT) * E HSino-
Aviation Investments * A it B B K2 ok %D
AL A 5 B EEL0% * 15% 45% ° &
EMBEATUATREGERETSER
BREO=ZFEBEFSRIHE  R>)ES
EEFPEBE I E - BE-_T—FTF
TZA=+—H BRLELGEHERE
Bk - B E & s MR ER o




39.

40.
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FINANCIAL GUARANTEES 39. MI%ER
As at 31 December 2010, the Group had given RZE—ZEF+_HA=+—8"
financial guarantees to banks for banking facilities AEBEBRBROTATEIEHRER 2
granted to major suppliers of HK$54,117,647 (2009: RITEE M MRITIE D B ER
HK$68,181,818), which were utilised to the extent of 54,117,647% 7T (Z T & 1L & :
HK$54,117,647 (2009: HK$68,181,818). 68,181,8188 L) r HHFEHAZ &
B4 A54,117,6478 L (ZEZT AN
£ : 68,181,818 L) °
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. BEALIRSF
(a) In addition to the transactions described elsewhere (a) MRV BHRRBBEMILZR S
in the financial statements, the Group had the Gh s REBRFARNGEITA
following material transactions with related TERBEATRS
parties during the year:
2010 2009
—E-Z5F —EENF
Notes HK$ HK$
k=3 BT BT
Rental income received  U¢ERAR HAH & A
from a shareholder (i) - 133,780
Minimum lease payments #R1% + i RIEF
under an operating H TR 49 A AR R
lease on land and Ttz &xEHEE
building paid to
a shareholder (i) 144,000 144,000
Net income from REEC1207EH
Project EC120 ZFWA (i) 654,454 1,718,434
Associates: R /N=]
Interest income on Sl lNET kS
convertible bonds 2 AT RS 5
issued by an associate Z A B A (iv) 550,000 485,535
Interest income on EEENE]
loans to associates RENERZ
FEBA v) 1,133,252 2,416,799
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(continued)
(a) (continued)
Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(v)

Pursuant to a tenancy agreement between the
Company and AVIC International (HK) Group
Limited (“AVIC International (HK) Group”),
a deemed shareholder of the Company, the
Company leased its investment property to AVIC
International (HK) Group at a monthly rental of
HK$66,890 (exclusive of rates, management
fees and air-conditioning charges). Such
tenancy was terminated on 28 February 2009.
The rental was determined with reference to

open market rentals.

The Company leased from AVIC International
(HK) Group its property at a monthly rental of
HK$12,000 (inclusive of rates and management
fees). The rental was determined with reference
to open market rentals.

The balance represented net cash proceeds
received or receivable from AVIC International
EC120. Further
details are set out in note 20 to the financial

generated from Project

statements.

The interest income represented interest income
on convertible bonds issued by Sino Gas. Details
of the convertible bonds are set out in note
21(b) to the financial statements.

Details of loans to associates are set out in note
19 to the financial statements.

40. BAEALR S (&

(a)

(%)
BiEt

(0]

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

RBARNREARBRIE
BRRZPMER (FE)
SBEARRAA ([4#H1EH
B (&E) &E]) flxz 2

HEWZ - ARAHEER
EYELET DM R

(&%) &8 5R8:
466,890/ 7T (T EIEE
il BEEBRERAE) -
ZHEER=-TThEGE=
AZ+NB&I - FriA
H2EAHAMERSE

iE °

AR AR A EE(F
) SEEEEDE
A€ %12,0008 T (B
FEMRERE) - He
D2EARTEBESE

E o

“EERTYFLEC12078 B R
FREER I B s ek 2 3R &
SRIBFEE - E—HFER
BTSRRI 5E20 o

A BHEA T e e 2 B B
172 Ak B 2 A B U
A o AR B2 FEH
REF SRR FE21(b) °

FH & A BIRERNERZ
EACE SRR
19 e
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b)

Other transactions with related parties:

(i)

(i)

During the year, pursuant to a share placing
and top-up subscription arrangement,
the Group sold 215,000,000 ordinary
shares of Sino Gas to certain independent
third parties at HK$0.377 per share, and
subscribed for 215,000,000 new ordinary
shares issued by Sino Gas at the same
price. Besides, the Group also subscribed
for an additional 80,000,000 new ordinary
shares issued by Sino Gas at HK$0.377
per share at a cash consideration of
HK$30,160,000.

On 14 December 2009, the Company
entered into an agreement with AVIC
International Investment Limited (“AVIC
International Investment”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of AVIC International
(HK) Group, to dispose of its entire
100% equity interest in Loyalty Resources
Limited (“Loyalty Resources”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, at
a cash consideration of HK$4,400,000.
The principal asset of Loyalty Resources
is an investment in 10% equity interest
in Ningbo Dawn Aerospace Bio-Science
Developing Co., Ltd.,, a company
registered in the PRC and engaged in the
research and development of biological
products, with registered share capital of
RMB40,000,000. A gain of HK$100,416
was resulted from the disposal.

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H

40. BEAXRZ (&

(b) EEIEALETIHMRS :

(i) FR BBLEERT
ZBEHOEERHE K
SEIZEER0.3778 T
mETHEIE=FD
£215,000,0004% & 5
BeeEdk - WiRAE
A (B 18 R 8 B om R
8E2£17,2215,000,000
% 8 AR o Uk SN
REBRURSKE
30,160,000 7T R
BEHTHRRERER
0.377H AT 258N
80,000,000/ #1 I i@

B o

(i) RZTEZAF+ZA
+TMHE - ARAEEAF
MEER(FE) &
ZE2ENEA R M
RIEEFR QA
(T AMBEERKRE ] &
i HEARRF
2 & [t /& 2 FlLoyalty
Resources Limited
([ Loyalty Resources |)
Z100% M Az - B
% X {8 54,400,000/
JC ° Loyalty Resources
ZEIBBEERERN—
KRR EEM #F
B W) EE o T B R s AR
& 7N /40,000,0007T
ARBZRAIERR
TAMREDR R
BEHR DA Z10%K
REDZRE - ZH
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b)

(continued)

(iii)

On 14 December 2009, the Company
entered into an agreement with AVIC
International Investment to dispose of
its entire 60% equity interests in each
of Honwin Investment Limited (“Honwin
Investment”) and Teampro Resources
Limited (“Teampro Resources”),
both 60%-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, at a total cash consideration of
US$135,270 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,055,106). The principal assets of
Honwin Investment and Teampro Resources
are their respective 80% and 20% equity
interests in CATIC Apartments (T) Limited
which was established in 2008 for the
purpose of engaging in the construction
and operation of apartment projects in Dar
es salaam, Tanzania, a country in central
East Africa. A gain of HK$1,104,611 was
resulted from the disposal.

40. BEALTRG (&)

RZZETAE+_H
+TMHE - AREEA
fin B BR & & 5T I 1%
= HEXRRAEER
60%E = < Mt B 2
ARERREERA
A(EAKRED &
Teampro Resources
Limited ([Teampro
Resources]) 2 &
8 & #060%[k & #
m ReBREA
135,270% 7T (BHER
#)1,055,106 #7T) °
& % & KTeampro
Resourcesz £ Z &
ERBRENRIFHEZ
CATIC Apartments
(T) Limited ([CATIC
Apartments]) 80%
K20%A 7N # % e
CATIC Apartments 7
—EENFKIL B
FER R IEH BB K B
ez ER T EN
BB - ZHEEZAH
HA1,104,611787T °
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(c)

Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Details of the Group’s loans to associates
as at the end of the reporting period
are disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

Details of terms of convertible bonds
issued by an associate are disclosed in
note 21(b) to the financial statements.

Details of the Group’s loan to a jointly-
controlled entity as at the end of the
reporting period are disclosed in note 18
to the financial statements.

Details of the Group’s loan to a related
company as at the end of the reporting
period are disclosed in note 24 to the
financial statements.

Compensation of key management personnel of

31 December 2010 —_E—ZFF+_-_A=+—H

40. BBEALR S (&

(0 BEEEALZARBERR:

(i) R|MEBRR NEE
mEEARIREOE
R F BRI B ®RE
BEE199% 58 -

(i) EERRBITZAE
P fE 5 2 R B R
B 75 ¥R R MY FE21(b) 3

& o

(i) AEBERFEHKRA
HRZEEAREED
BERZF BRI %R
RHTFE18IKFE -

vy, AEBRBEHRM
BEARIRENER
2 FE 1B R B 7 R 2 B
FE24%0 FR o

d) AEEEREEASZHMH

the Group:

2010 2009
—E-EF —ETNEF
HKS$ HK$
B BT
Short term employee benefits HHEEEF 6,957,180 7,050,351
Post-employment benefits BEERERN 360,102 359,160

Total compensation paid to key  TfTEEEEIEABR
management personnel Z TR ABRE 7,317,282 7,409,511

Further details of directors’ emoluments are

included in note 8 to the financial statements.

The related party transactions in respect of items
(a)(i), (a)(ii), (a)(iii), (b)(ii) and (b)(iii) also constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules.

EHREFEME 2 E—FFB
NI TSR ES

FE(a)(i) ~ (a)ii) ~ (a)(iii) ~ (b)(ii) &
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

41. EWMIEDE

RBEEHR SERTAR@E

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting e
period are as follows:
2010
—E-=F
Group
rE
Financial assets
MKEE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through Available-
profit or for-sale
loss - held for Loans and financial
trading receivables assets Total
BRER
RATESIE
WEHEE - EAR AHEEN
BEEE EWzE BBEE R
HKS$ HK$ HKS HK$
B A B B
Available-for-sale investments A ERRE - - 1,906,344,060  1,906,344,060
Trade and bills receivables RREFERRRE - 40,368,355 - 40,368,355
Loan to a jointly-controlled entity mEREED RRENER - 23,529,412 - 23,529,412
Loans to associates B ERRARENER - 82,068,925 - 82,068,925
Loan to a related company MBELRRENER - 17,647,059 - 17,647,059
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ABRFH - RE R Al
deposits and other receivables Rl M A - 36,613,013 - 36,613,013
Derivative financial instrument fESRTIA 17,875,291 - - 17,875,291
Pledged time deposits BEATHER - 34,444,706 - 34,444,706
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEE - 340,002,935 - 340,002,935
17,875,291 574,674,405 1,906,344,060 2,498,893,756
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FINA INSTRUMENTS BY 4. eBMIESE (£)
CATE Y (continued)

The carr amounts of each of the categories of REBERR SRR TAKEE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting mr - (&

period are as follows: (continued)

2010
—E-ZF
Group
rEH
Financial liabilities
BkaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
R R A
Sl AR
BKaE
HKS$
B
Trade and bills payables BN E SRR RER 75,376,019
Financial liabilities included in other payables &+ A E fbh &t 718 & fE5+ £ Y
and accruals BHBE 7,393,306
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FTEERITER 55,882,353
138,651,678
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (continued)

41. €RIEDE (&)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of RBEHR - SRR TAKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting s ()
period are as follows: (continued)
2009
ZETNEF
Group
REH
Financial assets
B EE
Financial
assets at
fair value
through Available-
profit or for-sale
loss - held for Loans and financial
trading receivables assets Total
BhER
BRATENIE
HEHEE - BERR A ER
BEEE kA BsEE aat
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
HT AT A AT
Financial asset under Project EC120 EC120E 2B EE = = 3,459,462 3,459,462
Available-for-sale investments AL ENRE - - 63284434 63,284,434
Trade and bills receivables EUE SEFREE = 32,488,155 = 32,488,155
Loans to associates MBS D AIREMER - 95,027,703 = 95,027,703
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ABRH - KL R Ef
deposits and other receivables Rl M A = 65,559,363 = 65,559,363
Derivative financial instrument fTESRIA 23,794,178 - - 23,794,178
Pledged time deposits BEATHER = 45,051,137 = 45,051,137
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkReEE - 330,478,651 - 330,478,651
23,794,178 568,605,009 66,743,896 659,143,083
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FINA INSTRUMENTS BY 4. SMIESE (&)
CATE (continued)
The carr amounts of each of the categories of RBEWR - SREMTAKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting mr - (&
period are és follows: (continued)
2009
T NF
Group
REHE
Financial liabilities
BT B
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
RESHR A
5|88
MBEE
HK$
Vv
Trade and bills payables BN E SRR RER 112,698,176
Financial liabilities included in other payables &t A E fb fE{t FIE K fEzT 2
and accruals e aE 4,765,989
Interest-bearing bank borrowings FRRITER 28,409,091
145,873,256
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41.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY (continued)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting

period are as follows: (continued)

Company
P NN
Financial assets

MBEE

41. €RIEDE (&)

RBEHR SELBMITAFEEE
R : (48)

2010 2009
~3-%% “EENE
Available- Available-
for-sale for-sale
Loans and financial Loans and financial
receivables assets Total receivables assets Total
ERR  THEED ERk  mftEs
JelisR BHEE ait iR iihaE ait
HK$ HKS$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
V-7 V-7 V-7 V78 V7 HT
Available-for-sale investments A4 H £ 45 & - 2680300 2,680,300 - 2680300 2,680,300
Loans to an associate S AR RENED 31,048,000 - 31,048,000 31,048,000 - 31,048,000
Financial assets included in st ABRFE ke R
prepayments, deposits and  EftiERE
other receivables HBAE 1,185,529 - 1185529 2774816 - 2774816
Cash and cash equivalents B2 RELEE 75,958,489 - 75958489 94,067,581 - 94,067,581
108,192,018 2,680,300 110,872,318 127,890,397 2,680,300 130,570,697
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FINA INSTRUMENTS BY 4. eBMIESE (£)
CATE Y (continued)

The carr amounts of each of the categories of RB|EPR - SHERTAKREE
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting ()

period are as follows: (continued)

Company
NN
Financial liabilities
BB asE
2010 2009
—EB-EF ZZETNF
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
REBEHR A RESHR A
B8R &Y 5l BR &Y
BKaE MBaE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Due to subsidiaries FERTH B A R Z IR - 43,131,904
Financial liabilities included STARGEROIMKAE
in accruals 2,249,575 1,664,978
2,249,575 44,796,882
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42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

42. RFPERAFESHREE

HIERARCHY
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's and AEBRAAG @ TAEZREE
the Company’s financial instruments are as follows: RAFEFHINAT -
Group
AEH
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE AYE
2010 2009 2010 2009
—Z-EF “ETNE —Z-EfF “ETNF
HKS$ HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets BBEE
Financial asset under EC120BHZ
Project EC120 NHEE - 3,459,462 - N/ATE R
Available-for-sale investments ZpK AR €7
at cost At HENRE - 33,230,744 - N/AZ B A
Available-for-sale investments AT EEZ
at fair value At RE 1,906,344,060 30,053,690  1,906,344,060 30,053,690
Trade and bills receivables BB ZFEZREE 40,368,355 32,488,155 40,368,355 32,488,155
Loan to a jointly-controlled A FEHEHEA AR
entity Bx 23,529,412 - 23,529,412 -
Loans to associates MBS N AR A &3 82,068,925 95,027,703 82,068,925 95,027,703
Loan to a related company  MEER AREAER 17,647,059 - 17,647,059 -
Financial assets included FTABRHE
in prepayments, deposits Be REMEK
and other receivables RIUNIBEE 36,613,013 65,559,363 36,613,013 65,559,363
Derivative financial instrument {T£4& R TE 17,875,291 23,794,178 17,875,291 23,794,178
Pledged time deposits BIREEHER 34,444,706 45,051,137 34,444,706 45,051,137
Cash and cash equivalents RBe kB eSE 340,002,935 330,478,651 340,002,935 330,478,651
2,498,893,756 659,143,083  2,498,893,756 622,452,877
Financial liabilities BHaE
Trade and bills payables EHESERRERE 75376019 112,698,176  75376,019 112,698,176
Financial liabilities included &t A fd 0B
in other payables and EAERNTBEE
accruals 7,393,306 4,765,989 7,393,306 4,765,989
Interest-bearing bank FTERITER
borrowings 55,882,353 28,409,091 55,882,353 28,409,091
138,651,678 145,873,256 138,651,678 145,873,256
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HIERARCHY (continued)

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's
and the Company’s financial instruments are as follows:

42.

AFERAFEERFE
(#&
AEBRAARSRTIAY EEE
BRATEHIIMT : (4)

(continued)
Company
VNN
Carrying amounts Fair values
REE AFE
2010 2009 2010 2009
—E-EE —ZTNF —E-ZF —TTNF
HKS HK$ HKS$ HK$
BT BT B B
Financial assets BBEE
Available-for-sale investments At HE#)KE 2,680,300 2,680,300 2,680,300 2,680,300
Loans to an associate A AR E R 31,048,000 31,048,000 31,048,000 31,048,000
Financial assets included BUNEE SR
in prepayments, deposits Re R EMEK
and other receivables BB EE 1,185,529 2,774,816 1,185,529 2,774,816
Cash and cash equivalents BeLhHESEE 75,958,489 94,067,581 75,958,489 94,067,581
110,872,318 130,570,697 110,872,318 130,570,697
Financial liabilities HBaE
Due to subsidiaries FERTHTE A RlZUE - 43,131,904 - 43,131,904
Financial liabilities AR ERM
included in accruals B aE 2,249,575 1,664,978 2,249,575 1,664,978
2,249,575 44,796,882 2,249,575 44,796,882

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included in the amount at which the instrument could
be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
The following methods and assumptions were used to
estimate the fair values:

The fair values of trade and bills receivables, loan to
a jointly-controlled entity, loans to associates, loan
to a related company, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, pledged
time deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and
bills payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings
and amounts due to subsidiaries approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities
of these instruments.

MBEERBEZAFEFABR
(MIERBFFTREE) RFEHR
EAMRZPAIERTEZRIEANR -

RiEt ATER  GER TR
BB

EWEZEALER  MARZEE
RERHEOER [ E QB
MER - MEZEARRENER
FRABMFIA - e REMEKER
ROMBEE SHERERFR
RekBAeEE BHEIRRR
RE FIAEMENFBEREFE
RO BaE e RTERKE
NHBARREZ A FEREEXH
ZEREERSE  TEEHRZETL
AREHREE -
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42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based
on quoted market prices. Unlisted available-for-sale
equity investments in 2009 were stated at cost less
impairment of HK$33,230,744 because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates was so significant that
the directors were of the opinion that their fair values
could not be measured reliably. Further details are set
out in note 21(a) to the financial statements. The fair
values of other unlisted available-for-sale investments
and derivative financial instrument have been estimated
using a valuation technique based on assumptions that
are supported by observable market prices or rates.
The valuation was based on the expected future cash
flows discounted at current rates applicable for items
with similar terms and risk characteristics. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from
the valuation technique, which are recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position, and the
related changes in fair values, which are recorded in
other comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that
they were the most appropriate values at the end of the
reporting period.

Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining
and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:
Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities

Level 2: fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which all inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are observable, either directly or indirectly
Level 3: fair values measured based on valuation
techniques for which any inputs which have
a significant effect on the recorded fair value
are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs)

42.
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42. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 42. P ERAFEELRFE
HIERARCHY (continued) (42
Assets measured at fair value: DATFEFEZEE :
Group AEH
As at 31 December 2010 R-FE-FF+-A=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—R FZR F=H &5t
HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT
Available-for-sale investments: AtHERNRE
Equity investments RARZE 1,872,380,546 - - 1,872,380,546
Debt investments EHRE 4,929,712 29,033,802 - 33,963,514
Derivative financial instrument TEERMTA - 17,875,291 - 17,875,291
1,877,310,258 46,909,093 - 1,924,219,351
As at 31 December 2009 R-ZEFNFF-_HA=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—H E-H F=H A&t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS$
BT BT BT BT
Available-for-sale investments; AEHENRE
Debt investments ERRE 4,853,027 25,200,663 - 30,053,690
Derivative financial instrument TESRTA - 23,794,178 - 23,794,178
4,853,027 48,994,841 - 53,847,868
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42.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY (continued)

Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

Company
As at 31 December 2010

42.

DFERAFESRFE
(#%)
UAFEIRZEE : ()

ZNN
R-E-FF+-F=1+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—R FZR F=H &t
HKS HKS HKS HKS
BT BT BT BT

Available-for-sale investments: AHERNRE
Debt investments BRIRE 2,680,300 - - 2,680,300

As at 31 December 2009 R_FEENFF+_H=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—H BE_& E=/ A&t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT

Available-for-sale investments: AHHENTE
Debt investments EBRE 2,680,300 = = 2,680,300
FR F—REF_HFoETEE

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value

measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2009: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured
at fair value as at 31 December 2010 and 2009.

BRAFENE  TEEAXELE
=R (ZFTTNhF &) -

A ﬁi)} EENE+_H
—i— ’ ZIKE@I%EWEQEF
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise bank loans and cash and short term
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities, such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and
they are summarised below.

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s foreign currency exposures primarily arise
from certain sales or purchases by operating units in
currencies other than the units’ functional currency. In
view of the fact that the Group tries to match its assets
and liabilities with the same currency, the Group’s
exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

43.
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43,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets,
which comprise cash and cash equivalents, pledged time
deposits, available-for-sale investments, deposits and
other receivables, and loans to related parties arises from
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure
equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments. The
Group is also exposed to credit risk through the granting
of financial guarantees, further details of which are
disclosed in note 39 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties, there is no requirement for
collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by
customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations
of credit risk within the Group as the customer bases
of the Group’s trade receivables are widely dispersed in
different sectors and industries.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’'s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills
receivables are disclosed in note 23 to the financial
statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use
of bank loans. The Group’s policy is to minimise
borrowings.

43.
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43. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. BiEEREEERERBR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (42
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REMERMR (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s and the Company's RWMERR REBEREFTAE
financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, KRB R 2 M5 E E D EER A
based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as ™
follows:
Group
2010
—E-ZF
3 to less
Less than than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
=EANL
&N
RERE PR=EA +=fA a5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS
BT BT BT BT
Trade and bills payables ERNESRFREE - 75,365,191 10,828 75,376,019
Other payables and accruals HEuENREREER - 17,393,306 - 7,393,306
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B HFTER - 12,393,211 44,286,677 56,679,888
Guarantees given to banks HRTETEEMHED 2
for banking facilities granted RITEEmART
to major suppliers B 2 IR 54,117,647 - - 54,117,647
54,117,647 95,151,708 44,297,505 193,566,860
2009
“ETNF
3 to less
Less than than
On demand 3 months 12 months Total
=EANKE
RAR
REXE PR=ER +={@A A&t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Trade and bills payables ENESEIRERE - 111,014,601 1,683,575 112,698,176
Other payables and accruals Hiheria kB - 4,765,989 - 4,765,989
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SFERTER - 17,323,396 11,734,984 29,058,380
Guarantees given to banks RETHRTEEHRER
for banking facilities granted RITEEMRERT
to major suppliers EH 2 R 68,181,818 - - 68,181,818
68,181,818 133,103,986 13,418,559 214,704,363
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43,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. BIEEREEEERBEK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (7&
(continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) mENE RS (4F)
Company
VNN
2010 2009
—E-ZF —EENF
On demand On demand
RERE R E K
HKS$ HKS$
BT BT
Due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE ] - 43,131,904
Accruals FERT & 2,249,575 1,664,978
2,249,575 44,796,882
Equity price risk RER R

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of financial
instruments decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the value of individual securities.
The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
listed equity investment classified as available-for-sale
investment (note 27) and the Embedded Derivative Asset
included in derivative financial instrument (note 26) as
at 31 December 2010. The listed equity investments are
listed on the Shenzhen stock exchange and are valued
at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The market equity indices for the following stock
exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest
trading day in the year to the end of the reporting
period, and their respective highest and lowest points
during the year were as follows:

P {8 L e BV A e 3R 45 SR SF K AE B
EFBEEEZHMESHMTARFE
FREORR R-_T—-—ZTF+_A
=t—B XEEAXZDBR/AH
HENRE (i221) 2 ERA
RENMGATTESRIE (#i226)
ZHRARATEEEMELEZRER
o EMBRARKRE IR RIIES R
ZRET  WRBERRARTE
e

FARKBAOBEHRRZ BEHE
TIBHR B AN GREREENE
REAZRRDEEEHBNT

31 December High/low 31 December High/low

2010 B/f 2009 &/

b 2 2 2010 “EENE 2009

tZA=+-8 “2-%% +t-A=T-H “ETNE

Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index B - BERY 23,035  24,964/18,986 21,873 22,944/11,345
Shenzhen - A share Index I — AR S 1,351 1,455/965 1,261 1,296/600
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 43. BHEREEEERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (&
(continued)
Equity price risk (continued) RERR (&)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to TREJNIMER - A EHAM
every 1% change in the fair values of the listed equity ERKRERTZAETHBESE
investment and the underlying equity investment of the IR T - ER ETRARE RIT
derivative financial instrument, with all other variables SeMTAEZHABRAKE ZERA
held constant and before any impact on tax, based B HEHQATETEE %N
on their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting o
period.
Increase/
(decrease)
in percentage
of fair value
of listed
equity
investment/ Carrying Increase/
underlying amount of (decrease) Increase/
equity financial in profit  (decrease) B
investment instruments  before tax in equity* b
EmRA 2
"E /B8 g
RERE %
AVERSH S¢RMIE BiA A Ei 9:
m,/ (B4) REE #Bm/HP) #i/(Bd)* g
% HKS HK$ HKS$ =
EAk 7 7 A7 Jﬁ
2010 —g-3f ﬁ
Investment listed in: WA £ 2 RA - Q
Shenzhen - Available-for-sale wY| - At 1 1,872,380,546 - 14,042,854
(1) - (14,082,854)
Unlisted investment at fair value: FEMRE  BOVE :
- Derivative financial asset — AR EE 1 17,875,291 466,822 -
(1) (466,684) -
2009 “ZTHEF
Unlisted investment at fair value: FEMRE  BOTE :
- Derivative financial asset —TEBBEE 1 23,794,178 386,568 -
(1) (691,386) -

*  Excluding retained earnings * NeEREET
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43,

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in
order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing
capital during the years ended 31 December 2010 and
31 December 2009.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is bank borrowings divided by the equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent. Management considers a
gearing ratio of not more than 40% as reasonable. The
gearing ratios as at the ends of the reporting periods
were as follows:

43.

BEREMEERERBE
(&
BAEE

AEEEAEENERER R
REEEAGHBEERNEN B
BRIBRENBERL R UXFHEE
BEE  FREAMBRREE -

AEERBEEBRNNES - T2
HEXRGBYFLAR - BTN
HEEREE  AREFEEAKR
RRFEBE - AR E & A 3%
TH R - AEBTE R H RSN
WEMIEATR -BE-_FT—F
F+_RA=+—BEZZETNAF+
“A=t—BLEFER BEXEHE
ZBIR - BEREAE A A o

AEBUERBEL X (RITERR
NAREREEARGER) B8
TEBER - EERERATHBEL0%
EHMEREELERBEE - WS
HRCERNBELERDT

Group
AEE
2010 2009
—E-ZF —ETNEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings 3 EIRITER 55,882,353 28,409,091
Equity attributable to equity NaElEmRF e ARG ER
holders of the parent 3,362,078,338 955,455,199
Gearing ratio BEARAGBLXR 2% 3%
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1
F THE FINANCIAL 44. Bz itE
The finan ents were approved and authorised MBREER=_ZE——F=A+AH
for issue ard of directors on 10 March 2011. EEEoAEREERE -
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Five Year Financial Summary A B #E =

The table set out below summarises the results and the assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the Group’s published
consolidated financial statements of the respective years and
restated/reclassified as appropriate. This summary is not part of
the audited financial statements.

TREJANEENEERBMRFE XS
REE BENMFERESHZE - 1A
AEEERFEZEAMGEMBREK - X
B8 EHAR (WER) - AEEIW Ik
REZMERR ZEAERD

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1+—-HLEE

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
—E-FF —ITTHEFE —TTNF TTLF —TTRF
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET FET FET FET
RESULTS S
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HERE %
Revenue &y 274,386 228,759 260,292 195,088 172,045
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B4 A A 53,780 37,086 18,673 57,754 35,176
Income tax expense FTERFEY (10,100) (12,380) (8,415) (4,594) (2,452)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM FEEEXH
CONTINUING OPERATIONS ARG A 43,680 24,706 10,258 53,160 32,724
DISCONTINUED OPERATION E#& & %HK
Profit for the year from BRIEREEB
a discontinued operation RERF - - - 30,342 18,379
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR RERF 43,680 24,706 10,258 83,502 51,103
Attributable to: THAL R :
Equity holders of the parent ~ ARIEZRAA 36,062 23,772 1,852 77,996 47,950
Non-controlling interests FEade I 7,618 934 8,406 5,506 3,153
43,680 24,706 10,258 83,502 51,103
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND  BE ~ 8ER
NON-CONTROLLING E
INTERESTS
Total assets BEAE 4,071,565 1,198,611 1,152,306 1,164,204 1,108,772
Total liabilities BEHE (637,841)  (177,728)  (164,243)  (208,241)  (483,975)
Non-controlling interests JEE R A (71,646) (65,428) (69,005) (33,046) (33,073)
3,362,078 955,455 919,058 922,917 591,724
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